
 
 

 
 

 
NOTIFICATION TO ATTEND MEETING OF THE PROTOCOL COMMITTEE 

 
TO BE HELD IN THE RICHARD O'CARROLL ROOM - CITY HALL 

 
ON THURSDAY 5 SEPTEMBER 2019 AT 8.00 AM 

 

 
AGENDA 

 
THURSDAY 5 SEPTEMBER 2019

  PAGE 
 
1   Minutes of meeting 27th June 2019   

 
3 - 6 

2   IT Provision for Elected Members (presentation)- Deirdre Ni Raghallaigh   
 

 

3   Draft Brief for Protocol Working Group on IT.   
 

7 - 8 

4   Lord Mayor's Receptions and Engagements of the Deputy Lord Mayor   
 

9 - 12 

5   Conferences   
 

 

a)   Conferences for approval  

 Cllr Catherine Stocker, Mercy Law Resource Centre, Training for 
County Councillors on Housing Law, Wednesday 25th September 
2019 

 

 

b)   Conferences Attended  

 Cllrs Patricia Roe, Mary Callaghan and Deirdre Conroy, AILG 
Induction Training 2019, Mullingar Park Hotel, County Westmeath, 
11th July 2019.    

 Cllrs Deirdre Conroy, Mary Freehill, Joe Costello and Dermot 
Lacey, MacGill Summer School, “A Global Crisis – Can the Centre 
Hold”, Highland Hotel, County Donegal, 21st – 26th July 2019. 

 
 

 

c)   Conference Reports Received 
 

13 - 26 

6   Motion in the name of Cllr Patrick Costello 
 
That this protocol committee agrees that Dublin city will join the  Cities for 
Adequate Housing Declaration, a worldwide commitment to the right to housing.  
 
The Declaration is based on a clear commitment to promote renewed housing 
strategies, and to do it in terms of social inclusion and human rights standards. 
Signatory cities, organizations and individuals share this common diagnosis. They 

27 - 30 



 

also commit to implement local actions and policies to advance the right to 
housing. Signatory local and regional governments may further join the global 
Community of Practice rallying cities for housing: a space within the World 
Organization of United Cities and Local Governments (UCLG) to exchange 
experiences, elaborate policy recommendations and organize joint advocacy 
action. 
 
A copy of the declaration is attached, for more information see 
citiesforhousing.org 
 

7   Expenses for Elected Members   
 

31 - 76 

8   Loan of the Chain of the Court of Conscience 
 
Loan of the Chain of the Court of Conscience to the Department of Culture, 
Heritage and the Gaeltacht for exhibitions to be held October 2019 – January 
2020 and February 2020 – May 2020. 
 

77 - 78 

9   Donation of a bust of Mahatma Ghandi   
 

79 - 100 

10   Councillors taking up membership on Area partnerships   
 

 

11   AOB   
 

 

12   Next meeting: To be confirmed   
 

 

 

https://webmail/owa/chiefexecutive@dublincity.ie/redir.aspx?C=TFyuaS8fPA0TPBXJA_pCbwon8PW5zYZDxWhBEIJF_lvj4MXHiSzXCA..&URL=http%3a%2f%2fscanmail.trustwave.com%2f%3fc%3d17268%26d%3drdfn3TM25g6sGSF-80Bms4I4AIx4vXcJcMl8bA4wFQ%26s%3d342%26u%3dhttp%253a%252f%252fcitiesforhousing%252eorg


Page 3



Page 4



Page 5



Page 6



Draft Brief for Protocol Working Group on IT Provision for Elected Members and Related Matters 

The Protocol Committee proposes to set up a working group on IT Provision for Councillors.   

This working group will report back to the Protocol with recommendations on  

 Identifying electronic communication protocols acceptable to management and Councillors 

that allows the Corporate Body and Councillors meet their respective GDPR obligations and 

reduce risk of breaches.   

 Recommended appropriate hardware provision to Councillors  (IPads, Laptops, Printers etc ) 

 Budgetary guidelines for same 

 Purchase, Replacement, security and maintenance of equipment 

 Optimising and improving existing provision 

 Alternative ways of providing services to Councillors 

 Review utility of online Public Reps systems used by other local authorities and identify brief 

for same 

 Other medium or long-term IT requirement. 

 

Membership 

One member per Political Group would agree to sit on the Working Group (6-8).  It would be useful if 

some Councillors with IT or information expertise would participate and that there be a mix or first 

time and more experienced Councillors.  The members of the group can select a chair from among 

their members. 

Support to Working Group: 

This Working Group will be supported  by staff from the  Chief Executive’s Department and the IS 

Department.  Other expertise will be brought in as required.  An independent facilitator can be made 

available for initial sessions if required. 

 

Duration of Working Group: 

The group will report back to the Protocol Committee within 3 months.  The Protocol Committee 

may amend report before referring to Council. 

Page 7





Page 9





Page 11





Page 13





Page 15





Page 17





Page 19





Page 21



Page 22



Page 23





Page 25





FOR ADEQUATE
CITIES

HOUSING
Municipalist Declaration of Local Governments for

the Right to Housing and the Right to the City
 

New York, 16th July 2018

#citiesforhousing 

Building on the milestones of the New Urban Agenda of Habitat III (Quito, 2016) and the momentum 

of “The Shift”, a global initiative on the right to housing, the signatory cities below take part in 

this High-Level Political Forum of the United Nations to follow up on Sustainable Development 

Goal 11 (SDG11: “Make cities and human settlements inclusive, safe, resilient and sustainable” by 

2030), with the support of UCLG (United Cities and Local Governments), the Office of the High 

Commissioner for Human Rights, and Leilani Farha, UN Special Rapporteur on the right to housing.  

 

We, the local governments, are the public officials who are most sensitive to the everyday needs of 

our citizens. In the contemporary world, lack of national and state funding, market deregulation, 

growing power of global corporations, and increasing competition for scarce real estate often become 

a burden on our neighbourhoods, causing serious distortions in their social fabric, and putting the goal 

of ensuring equitable, inclusive, and just cities at risk. We, the local governments strongly believe that 

all people should have actual access to “adequate housing”, understood by the United Nations as the 

one that has the correct “affordability”, “legal security of tenure”, “habitability”, “availability of services, 

materials, facilities an infrastructure””accessibility”, “location” and “cultural adequacy”. Nevertheless, 

real estate speculation, high cost housing, inadequate regulation, socio-spatial segregation, insecurity 

of tenure, substandard housing, homelessness, urban sprawl or informal urban enlargements without 

requisite facilities or infrastructure, are growing phenomena that threaten the equity and sustainability 

of our cities. Given this situation, local governments cannot stay on the sidelines, and need to take a 

central role. For all these reasons, we call for the following actions.

1 / 4

Page 27



01

02

More powers to better regulate  
the real estate market
We demand more legal and fiscal powers to regulate the real estate market in 
order to fight against speculation and guarantee the social function of the city.

More funds to improve our public housing stocks
We demand more resources and commit increased investment to strengthen 
the public housing rental stock in all of our neighbourhoods.

We, the local governments require regulatory and enforcement tools to protect our neighbourhoods 

from speculation. Furthermore, we need the tools to protect the use of housing as homes for people 

living in the cities we represent. We also require instruments to regulate the housing rental market, 

protecting tenants from speculative bubbles and giving them the right to greater security of tenure. 

Likewise, we demand mechanisms to implement value capture from real estate operations for the 

common good, both in new developments and in urban renewal. Finally, we need powers to fight 

substandard or vacant housing.

We, the local governments demand more resources and investment to strengthen our public housing

stock. We must promote unique solutions that respond proportionally to the seriousness of the housing

emergency and promote innovative, fairer, sustainable, more agile and economically efficient 

alternatives. Public housing should contribute to achieving cities where all persons have equal access 

to affordable housing. This should include its use, alongside adequately-funded public services and 

welfare systems, to prevent homelessness and to ensure no one needs to sleep rough. Furthermore, 

we must guarantee a balanced distribution of affordable housing in the city, in order to promote fair 

housing, combat socio-spatial segregation, and alleviate the tension between centres and peripheries.

2 / 4

Page 28



03

04

More tools to co-produce public-private 
communitydriven alternative housing
We are committed to boosting mixed residential solutions,  
which are neither solely government-driven nor purely  
based on commercial gain.

Urban planning that combines adequate 
housing with quality, inclusive and sustainable 
neighbourhoods
We are committed to planning mixed, compact and polycentric cities where 
housing benefits from a balanced context and contributes to the social, 
economic and environmental sustainability of the urban fabric.

We, the local governments need to be able to count on the strength and talent from our cities’ productive 

and social fabric to co-produce mixed solutions, instead of exclusively focusing on public or business-

led schemes. We must prioritize subsidies and tax exemptions for the creation of affordable housing. In 

addition, we aim to explore, amongst others, various options adapted to each city’s situation such as the 

cooperative or the community land trust housing models and create public-private operators to invest

capital in the creation and preservation of affordable rental housing. Likewise, we must collaborate with

non-governmental organisations and foster the participation, self-management and empowerment of

residents, supporting good practices such as collaborative design or assisted self-construction.

We, the local governments must promote the compactness of urban fabrics to combat urban sprawl. 

We need urban planning practices that avoid the dependence on the private vehicle and return to 

the model of accessible, walkable and bikable cities that are provided with efficient public transport 

networks. We must boost existing urban fabrics and promote mixed uses in all of our neighbourhoods. 

We must promote fair housing and integrated neighbourhoods. We should also provide alternatives 

to the expansion of new informal settlements by focusing on the causes that lead to them and not on 

their victims.

3 / 4

Page 29



05
Municipalist cooperation in residential strategies
We want to enhance cooperation and solidarity within city networks that 
defend affordable housing and equitable, just, and inclusive cities by boosting 
long-term strategies on a metropolitan scale.

Endorsed cities 

Amsterdam
Barcelona
Berlin
Durban
Lisbon
London
Montevideo
Montreal
New York
Paris
Seoul

We, the local governments are committed towards cooperation and the exchange of knowledge and

practice in urban and residential policies. We also propose joining forces to call for more resources and

powers from both national and international supra-municipal bodies. We need the principle of 

subsidiarity to be applied to housing and urban policies of city and central governments. Furthermore, 

we call upon the cities to form a joint front when negotiating with global actors or digital platforms. In 

addition, we commit ourselves towards practising metropolitan solidarity so as to overcome competitive 

localisms, centre-peripheral tensions and territorial imbalances. Finally, we commit ourselves to 

reaching city agreements that transcend governmental terms of office and guarantee the coherence 

and continuity of long-term strategies.

4 / 4

Page 30



1 
 

Appendix I 

 

 

Allowances for Expenses Incurred by Elected Members of Local Authorities 

 

 

 

Directions 

 

Issued by the 

Minister of State at the Department of Housing, Planning and Local Government with 

special responsibility for Local Government and Electoral Reform 

 

under Article 17 of the 

 

Local Government (Expenses of Local Authority Members) Regulations 2014-2017 

(S.I. No. 236 of 2014 & S.I. No. 494 of 2017) 

 

 

 

Revised 1 July 2019 

 

 

 

 

  

  

Page 31



2 
 

Contents                                                                                                                                   Page 

 

Part I  Rates and Rules in relation to Annual Expenses Allowances 

 

2 

 Schedule A  Expenditure Categories for Vouched Annual Expenses 

 

8 

 Schedule B Guidance on the rent, rates and other such charges 

 

12 

Part II Rates and Rules for Travelling and Subsistence Expenses Allowances 

 

14 

 Schedule A Motor Travel Rates 

 

22 

 Schedule B Subsistence Rates  

    

23 

 Schedule C Declaration 

 

24 

 Schedule D     Aggregated Travel Form 

 

25 

Part III  Rates and Rules in respect of Mobile Phone Allowance 

 

26 

Part IV Allowances for Certain Chairpersons  

 

27 

 Allowances for Members of Municipal Districts/Area Committees 

 

28 

Part V  Allowances for Expenses for Attendance at Conferences and Training 

 

31 

Part VI  General Rules in respect of the Allowances 

 

36 

Appendix I Guidance Notes 39 

 

Appendix II Summary of Expenses and Allowances System 42 

 

  

Page 32



3 
 

Introduction 

 

The following are directions given by the Minister of State at the Department of Housing, 

Planning and Local Government with special responsibility for Local Government and 

Electoral Reform under article 17 of the Local Government (Expenses of Local Authority 

Members) Regulations 2014-2017 (S.I. No. 236 of 2014 & S.I. No. 494 of 2017).   

 

The directions should be read in conjunction with section 142 (as amended) of the Local 

Government Act 2001 generally with respect to expenses, and with section 143 with respect to 

any allowances for chairpersons, and the fore-mentioned Regulations.  They replace all 

previous directions regarding expenses and allowances of elected members. 

 

  

Page 33



4 
 

Part I 

 

Rates and Rules in relation to Annual Expenses Allowances 

 

1. Rates 

    (1) The rates that apply for the purpose of calculating an annual expenses allowance under    

    Part II of the Regulations shall be as follows:- 

 

(a) The annual travel rates that apply from 1 January 2018 for the purposes of    

      subparagraph (i) of paragraphs (a), (b), (c) and (d) respectively of article 5(1) of   

      the Regulations shall be aligned with the general travel rates set by the Minister     

      for Finance and Public Expenditure and Reform as follows: - 

 

  (i) 44.79 cent per km for the first 1,500 kilometres,  

 (ii) 83.53 cent per km from 1,501 kilometres up to 5,500 kilometres,  

 (iii) 32.21 cent per km for 5,501 kilometres and over, and 

 (iv) 25.85 cent per km for 25,001 kilometres and over 

 

The distance travelled shall be determined based on the total accumulated “relevant 

distance” under article 5(2) of the Regulations and the total distance should then be 

split between the relevant travel bands1. 

 

For example, a Member who lives 26km for the headquarters of their local 

authority with a travel index of 110 would have a relevant distance of 2,860km per 

annum (26km x 110 travel index). The travel rate of 44.79 cent per km would apply 

for the first 1,500km of this distance. The travel rate of 83.53 cent per km would 

then apply for the remaining 1,360km. Total payment per annum:  

(1,500 @ 44.79 = €671.85) + (1,360 @ 83.53 = €1,135.87) = €1,807.72  

 

(b) The annual subsistence rate that applies from 1 July 2019 for the purposes of 

subparagraph (ii) of paragraphs (a), (b), (c) and (d) respectively of article 5(1) of 

the Regulations shall be €36.97.  

 

(c) The fixed annual rate which shall apply for the purposes of subparagraph (iii) of 

paragraphs (a), (b), (c) and (d) respectively of article 5(1) of the Regulations shall 

be €2,286, €2,413, €2,540 and €2,667. 

 

     (2) Annual expenses allowances under Part II of the Regulations shall be paid in      

instalments following the end of each month or of such greater period as the local 

authority may decide. Local authorities may choose to pay the annual travel rate in 

equal instalments based on the total relevant distance to be accumulated over the year.  

 

  

                                                           
1 The annual travel rate is NOT aggregated with the travelling expenses allowance under Part II or with travel to 

meetings of outside bodies. The annual travel rate is part of a composite allowance and there are unique rules that 

apply (the indexed bands for the notional number of meetings per year, 80% attendance rule, etc). The number of 

meetings attended by a member and actual distance travelled may differ from the indicative number of meetings 

and distance calculated at the beginning of the year using the indexed bands. As such the annual travel rate should 

continue to be calculated separately. 

Page 34



5 
 

2. Vouched Annual Expenses 
(1) With effect from 1 July 2017, members may choose to opt for claiming vouched annual 

expenses instead of being paid the fixed annual rate. It is a matter for each individual 

Member to choose if he or she wants to continue to claim the unvouched fixed annual 

rate or forego this payment to instead claim vouched annual expenses.  

 

(2) The maximum amount that may be claimed in vouched annual expenses per calendar 

year is €5,000 (or a pro rata amount in the case of members who are newly elected, co-

opted or those who retire during the year). This shall be paid in instalments following 

the end of each month or of such greater period as the local authority may decide. All 

expenses must be incurred within the relevant period.  

 
(3) Expenditure incurred by a member must be wholly and exclusively incurred in the 

performance of his or her duties as a member and should not include any personal 

element of expenditure. The expenses must fall within one of the categories set out 

under Schedule A to Part I of these directions. 

 

(4) Members who chose to claim vouched expenses must provide written notification to the 

local authority at least 10 working days before the end of January each year or a 

reasonable time limit set by the local authority in the case of members who are newly 

elected or co-opted.  

 

(5) If the total of the expenses incurred exceed the vouched allowance a Member was paid 

in the relevant period, the additional amount may not be brought forward to the following 

year i.e. if a Member has used his expenses budget for the year and the invoice is due to 

be paid it cannot be carried over to the following year. 

 

(6) Members who decide to claim vouched annual expenses must commit for the entirety 

of the relevant period. Members may not revert to the fixed annual rate during this time. 

At the conclusion of each period, members may again choose between claiming a fixed 

annual rate or vouched annual expenses for the subsequent period.  

 

(7) Members claiming vouched annual expenses must be able to provide bills, invoices, 

receipts and other relevant documentation for expenses they have incurred. The 

invoices should state the specific details of the type of service purchased. The local 

authority can only provide reimbursement after a Member has paid for the 

goods/services. Proof of payment should confirm that the payment was made by the 

Member. The relevant documentation (originals not copies) should be submitted 

promptly by members to the local authority after the end of each month. Members are 

advised to retain copies of relevant documentation submitted.  

 

(8) The documentation submitted and associated payments may be reviewed by the internal 

audit of the local authority or the Local Government Audit Service. 

 

(9) It is the responsibility of members to ensure that only relevant documentation relating 

to eligible expenditure allowed under Schedule A to Part I of these directions is 

submitted. Members will be required to reimburse the local authority in cases where 

payment has issued against expenses that are later found to be ineligible.   

 

 

Page 35



6 
 

3. Attendance 

(1) As set out in Part II of the Expenses Regulations, the annual expenses allowance for 

elected members comprises three elements - (1) travel, (2) subsistence and (3) an 

unvouched fixed rate allowance in respect of miscellaneous expenses or a vouched 

expenses allowance in respect of certain categories of miscellaneous expenditure.   

 

The attendance requirement for the travel and subsistence elements is 80% and the 

attendance requirement for the final element i.e. miscellaneous expenses is 50%.  Full 

payment of the miscellaneous element is payable for attendance by a member at 50% 

or more of the total number of meetings which that member was due to attend (i.e. 

“relevant meetings” of the full council, of municipal district members, and of 

committees, etc, of which he or she is a member).  Where a member attends less than 

50% of the total number of due meetings, then the proportion of the miscellaneous 

element payable shall be proportionate to the number of meetings attended.  If for 

example 20 meetings are attended when 30 meetings is the 50% threshold, then 20/30 

of the miscellaneous element is payable.  

 

(2) The calculation of the 80% attendance threshold and of the amount of the allowance 

when less than 80% attendance is achieved should accord with the rules as set out at 

paragraphs (c) and (d) below. 

 

(3) In determining 80% of the due number of meetings, any decimal amount shall be 

disregarded.  If for example the total number of meetings which a Member was due to 

attend in the period was 47 then 80% of such number of meetings is 47 x 80% = 37.6.  

This figure is then rounded down to the nearest whole number so that full payment of 

the allowance is available for attendance at 37 meetings.   

 

(4) In calculating the amount of the travel and subsistence element of the allowance payable 

when a member attends less than 80% of the due number of meetings, any decimal 

point should be rounded up. So that if for example a member attends 26 meetings when 

the relevant number of meetings for full payment of the travelling and subsistence 

element is 37 meetings, then the proportion of the travelling and subsistence element 

payable is 26 / 37 = 70.27% of the maximum entitlement.  In such instance, the 70.27% 

should be rounded up to 71% as the percentage of the allowance that is payable.  

 

(5) The rules at (3) and (4) above should also apply in the case of calculations arising as 

regards the reduced attendance threshold at paragraph (1) above. 

 

(6) With regard to the level of payment where the number of meetings is below the index 

figure used in the formula for calculating the annual allowance,  the position remains 

that once 80% or upwards of the relevant number of meetings (i.e. meetings of full 

council and municipal district members plus meetings of committees, joint committees 

and joint policing committees of which the person is a member) are attended the 

member qualifies for the full allowance determined in accordance with the formula.   

 

(7) It is entirely a matter for the local authority to determine the actual number of meetings.  

Arrangements should be in place to ensure they are prepared and organised in a 

business-like manner and conducted efficiently and effectively so as to minimise 

demands.  Procedures should continue to be reviewed periodically to identify any 

changes in existing arrangements, which may lead to improvements in this regard. 

Page 36



7 
 

 

(8) Attendance at meetings of any body that the member has been nominated onto in their 

capacity as an elected member shall not be included in the calculation in the 

determination of the actual number of meetings for which an allowance is paid (e.g. 

heritage committees). 

 

(9) The Annual Expenses Allowance is a composite expenses allowance and is regarded as 

no more than reimbursing Members for overall costs incurred wholly, exclusively and 

necessarily in the performance of duties for the office held. This allows the payment to 

be made by local authorities without deduction of tax. As such it is not fully payable to 

Members who do not meet the minimum attendance requirements.  

 

Page 37



8 
 

Schedule A 

 

Expenditure Categories for Vouched Annual Expenses 

(Paragraph 2 of Part I refers) 

 

Expenditure 

Categories 

 

Allowable Documentation 

Rent, rates and other 

such charges in 

relation to an office or 

offices 

Guidance on the rent, rates and 

other such charges in relation to an 

office or offices is set out 

in Schedule B  

 

In summary rent rates and other 

such charges are allowable on: 

 

An office premises that complies 

with the definition in Schedule B 

 

The costs relating to the declared 

premises, apportioned as appropriate 

 

The cost of the mortgage interest on 

the premises (no tax deduction can be 

claimed) 

 

The cost of rent paid on non-owner 

occupied premises used as a 

constituency office 

 

Proof that a cost was incurred 

for such premises 

 

Rental relating to the storage 

space for a mobile office 

 

Declaration form 

completed to provide the 

following: 

 

Address of the 

constituency 

office(s) premises 

 

A statement of mortgage 

interest that was incurred 

for the stated premises 

apportioned for the 

relevant 

period from the lending 

agency 

 

A statement of the rent that 

was incurred for the stated 

premises apportioned for 

the relevant period from 

the rental company/owner 

to include applicable tax 

numbers 

 

Proof of payment of the 

amount applicable for the 

relevant period 

Signage in respect of 

the office 

 

The signage on any office 

 

Signage on a mobile office, or 

vehicle (vehicle wrapping) of 

the Member 

 

Vehicle sign writing, graphics 

or car wrap signs for a Member’s car 

that comply with the SIPO 

guidelines (cannot explicitly 

promote a person’s candidacy, 

party’s interests or which solicits 

votes) 

 

The bills/invoices with the 

address of the premises or 

vehicle registration, details 

of the signage, date and 

amounts to be paid.  

A photograph of the sign 

should also be kept for 

examination. 

 

Proof of payment of the 

bill/invoice for the 

relevant period 

Page 38



9 
 

Utilities of an office 

or offices 

Cost of bills/invoices apportioned to 

include only costs of utilities or 

office services for the premises 
declared in the relevant periods. 

Allowable items may include: 

 

 Electricity bills 

 Gas bills 

 Oil or other fuel purchases for 

the office 

 Rates 

 Refuse charges 

 Water charges 

 Alarm monitoring 

 Security costs (e.g. CCTV 

installation) 

 Language service such as 

 translation, interpretation, 

 disability [e.g. Braille] 

 Bulk scanning services 

 Bulk or confidential shredding 

 

Not Allowable 

Sundry items of refreshments 

which includes catering, tea, coffee, 

biscuits, newspapers, water 

 

Bank charges/interest 

 

The bills/invoices with the 

address of the premises, 

date and amounts to be 

paid 

 

A statement of the costs of 

bills/invoices that were 

apportioned by including 

only costs incurred in the 

relevant period for the 

premises declared 

 

Direct debit payments of 

utility bills made after 1 

July 2017 are allowable 

for the pro rata amount 

due for the relevant period 

 

Proof of payment of the 

bill/invoice for the 

relevant period 

 

Purchase or 

maintenance of home 

office furniture or 

equipment 

Home office furniture and 

equipment normally required for the 

running of a home office 

 

Equipment can include cost of 

purchase, rental and maintenance of 

any office equipment including 

tablet PCs (such as iPads) and IT 

equipment (such as laptops) 

provided such equipment has not 

already been provided by the local 

authority  

 

Charges levied by the local authority 

ICT section for IT connection or 

support  

 

 

 

The bills/invoices should 

specify the details of the 

purchase of the furniture 

and equipment that will 

indicate it is for home 

office use, date and 

amounts to be paid 

 

Proof of payment of the 

bill /invoice for the 

relevant period 

Page 39



10 
 

Hiring rooms for 

clinics or other 

meetings 

 

The hire cost of rooms in any 

location or premises for the purpose 

of clinics or meetings with the 

general public in the performance of 

his/her functions as a member 

  

The bill/invoice for the 

room hire including name, 

address and date of each 

event 

 

List of events to indicate 

that the purpose of room 

hire was for his/her 

functions as a member 

 

Proof of payment of the 

bill/invoice for the 

relevant period 

 

Leaflet and newsletter 

printing and 

distribution 

 

Printing of leaflets and newsletters 

for the performance of his/her 

functions as a member that is not 

otherwise facilitated by the use of 

the printing facilities of the local 

authority and subject to the same 

conditions as the local authority may 

apply regarding the use of its own 

printing facilities  

 

Distribution of leaflets and 

newsletters for the performance of 

his/her functions as a member 

 

The bill/invoice for the 

services including name, 

address and date of each 

publication or distribution 

 

Samples to indicate that 

the content was for the 

performance of his/her 

functions as a member 

attached to each invoice 

 

Proof of payment of the 

bill/invoice for the 

relevant period 

 

Advertising relating to 

the performance of 

his/her functions as a 

member 

 

Advertising costs only (excluding 

graphic design and photography) 

 

All forms of media can be used 

(incl. newspapers, newsletters, radio, 

online, window space, signage, 

social media, etc) 

 

Content is limited to the Member’s 

name, address, clinic times or title of 

the meeting, venue and date 

 

Copies of the 

advertisement and the 

publication in which it 

appears to indicate that the 

content was for the 

performance of his/her 

functions as a member 

 

Invoices for services 

including name, address, 

company office 

registration number, 

charitable status number, 

where applicable 

 

Proof of payment of the 

invoice/bill, the dates on 

which the promotion 

occurred must be indicated 

on the invoice 

Page 40



11 
 

Web hosting and other 

related costs 

Invoices for web hosting, web 

design and other related costs 

 

The bill/invoice with the 

date and amount of the 

service/ product must 

specify details to show it is 

for use in relation to duties 

as a Member 

 

Proof of payment of the 

bill/invoice for the 

relevant period 

 

Purchase of stationery Stationery that is not provided by 

the local authority required for the 

performance of his or her duties as a 

Member 

The bills/invoices should 

specify the details of the 

purchase of the stationery 

that will indicate it is for 

office use, date and 

amount paid. 

 

Proof of payment of the 

bill/invoice for the 

relevant period 

 

A sample of stationery 

should also be retained for 

examination 

 

Purchase of secretarial 

support, public 

relations, and training 

services for staff 

under a contract for 

service 

Allowable 

Advertising for the service 

required 

 

Not Allowable 

Services purchased from a 

person or persons on the local 

authority payroll 

 

The purchase of computer 

equipment (laptops, iPads etc) 

is not allowable  

 

Invoices for the services 

provided including name, 

address, PPS number, 

company office 

registration 

number, where applicable 

 

Proof of payment of 

expenses incurred by the 

Member 

 

The following expenditure is not allowable under any of the categories listed above. 

 Electoral expenses for election to political office or referenda 

 Expenses incurred which are covered by other allowances set out under these 

directions (mobile telephones, attendance at conferences, etc)  

 

Page 41



12 
 

Schedule B 

 

Guidance on the rent, rates and other such charges in relation to an office or offices 

 

Definitions Premises 

An “office” is a room or rooms used exclusively for or during the relevant period for the 

transaction of business in the performance of his/her duties as a Member. Temporary use of a 

space adjacent to an office is not included. The principle of apportionment applies. 

 

Proof of payment of costs 

Members must actually incur a cost (proof is required). If no mortgage interest/rent is paid, it 

does not incur a cost and is therefore not allowable. No imputed costs will be allowed 

 

Mortgage Interest 

The cost of mortgage interest paid only (or relevant proportion thereof). A Member may not 

claim a tax deduction in respect of, say, mortgage interest paid where claimed under the 

Allowance. 

 

Rent 

The cost of the rent paid in respect of non-owner occupied premises used as an office is 

allowable. 

 

Clarification of general terms 

 

Mortgage 

In the context of the Allowance, mortgage means a loan made available by an institution 

regulated by the Financial Regulator used for the purchase, repair, development or 

improvement of the property used as a constituency office. A ‘mortgage’ does not, in this 

context, include a loan secured on the constituency office where the proceeds of that loan were 

used for a purpose unrelated to the constituency office. 

 

The cost of mortgage interest paid (or relevant proportion thereof) may be claimed as part of 

the Allowance. The cost of capital repayments may not be claimed. 

 

Apportionment 

Where part of a building is used as a constituency office and part is not, the claim for mortgage 

interest, rates and other such charges under the Allowance may relate only to the proportion 

applicable to the constituency office. 

 

Cost incurred 

The Member must actually incur a cost and such cost must be capable of being vouched or 

receipted. In other words, a Member cannot claim the Allowance in respect of what may be 

regarded or described as notional or deemed amounts. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 42



13 
 

 

Allowable Expenses - Non-owner occupied premises 

 

Rent 

The cost of the rent paid in respect of non-owner occupied premises used as a Constituency 

office may be claimed as part of the Allowance (subject, to the maximum of the overall 

allowance). The rental arrangements should be at ‘arm’s length’1 with the rent payable not 

exceeding the general prevailing rent payable for such properties (see above as regards 

apportionment) and that the conditions are fair and reasonable. The payment by the Member 

must be capable of being vouched or receipted for audit purposes. Invoices and the receipt from 

the owner should include the address of the premises. 

 

Allowable Expenses - Owner occupied premises 

 

Premises 

An “office” is a room or rooms used exclusively for or during the relevant period for the 

transaction of business in the performance of his or her duties as a Member. 

 

An office can include; 

1. a Member’s office in the home 

2. a Member’s office in a business 

3. a Member’s office in a mobile vehicle - vehicle purchase costs, vehicle maintenance or 

insurance costs will not be allowable. Costs of insurance, office improvements, 

equipment etc are provided for under other headings. 

 

No mortgage outstanding 

Where a Member owns, or part owns, a property in respect of which no mortgage exists, no 

claim may be made under the Allowance. In addition, a charge may not be imputed (see 

clarifications above). 

 

Mortgaged properties 

Where a Member holds a mortgage (qualifying as above) on a property used, or partly used, as 

a constituency office, only that part of the mortgage interest paid by the Member, as 

apportioned (see clarifications above) and subject to the maximum allowance that may be 

claimed under the Allowance. There is no provision for including any nominal rent amount on 

an owner occupied premises. 

 

Example 1 

Where a Member has a mortgage on the property and that Member uses the whole property as 

a constituency office, then the cost of the full amount of the mortgage interest paid may be 

claimed as part of the Allowance (subject, to the maximum allowance). 

 

Example 2 

Where a Member has a mortgage on the property and that Member uses 50% of property as a 

constituency office, then the 50% of the mortgage interest paid may be claimed as part of the 

Allowance (subject to the maximum allowance). 

 

Example 3 

Where a Member owns a constituency office outright whether as part of his residence or 

otherwise and is not paying rent or a mortgage no claim may be made.  

Page 43



14 
 

Part II 

 

Rates and Rules for Travelling and Subsistence Expenses Allowances 

 

1. Scale of travel rates 

(1) Subject to these rules, the scale of motor travel bands and rates which shall be applied 

for the purposes of travelling expenses allowances (other than the annual expenses 

allowances) in accordance with article 8 of the Regulations shall be as set out in 

Schedule A to this Part. 

 

(2) The motor travel rates referred to in subparagraph (1) shall be payable where it is 

necessary for a member to use a private car for a journey or part of a journey in respect 

of which the use of public transport is not practicable, in respect of each kilometre 

travelled along the shortest route by which the member could reasonably be expected 

to travel, between the member’s official residence and the place at which the event or 

events concerned is or are located. 

 

(3) The motor travel rate applying to a particular member will be dependent on the car 

engine capacity of the member concerned. 

 

2. Class of public transport travel 

Where it is practicable to travel by bus or rail, the allowance to be paid shall not be greater than 

the first class (or equivalent) fare payable in respect of the journey concerned. 

 

3. Use of Private Car 

Where a member uses a private car for the purpose of a journey or part of a journey for which 

the use of public transport would have been practicable, the travelling expenses allowance to 

be paid to the member shall not exceed the cost of public transport (or the sum of the cost of 

public transport and travel expenses where public transport was available for part of the journey 

only).  Where public transport is available for part of a journey only, the local authority shall 

determine, having regard to the circumstances in each case, whether such use would have been 

practicable.  Where two or more members travel in the same private car, the estimated cost of 

public transport for the purposes of this paragraph shall be increased by the amount of travelling 

expenses allowance which would otherwise have been payable in accordance with paragraphs 

1 or 2 of this Part by the local authority to the additional member(s). 

 

4. Use of Hired Car 

Where it is necessary for a member to use a hired vehicle for a journey or part of a journey in 

respect of which the use of public transport is not practicable, the travelling expenses allowance 

to be paid to the member in respect of the use of the hired vehicle shall not exceed the lesser 

of the vouched cost of such use or the maximum fare fixed for such use (or, where no such 

maximum fare applies, the amount which might reasonably be paid, in respect of such use). 

 

5. Two or more members travelling in same car 

Where two or more members travel in the same private car, a travelling expenses allowance 

may only be paid to one member in respect of that journey except insofar as it might be 

necessary for another member to use a separate means of transport for part of the journey.  The 

total amount of travelling expenses allowances payable shall not exceed the total amount which 

would be payable in respect of the journey if the members had travelled separately. 

 

Page 44



15 
 

6. Only one travelling allowance per journey 

A local authority shall not pay more than one travelling allowance to a member in respect of 

the same journey and shall not pay any travelling allowance to a member in respect of any 

journey or part of a journey in respect of which an allowance is paid by, or is payable by, or is 

claimed from, another public authority. 

 

7. Attendance at more than one matter 

(1) Where a member attends more than one matter to which Part IV or Part V of the 

Regulations applies on the same day, the distance in respect of which a travelling 

allowance shall be paid shall, subject to subparagraph (2), be the shortest overall route 

by which the member could reasonably be expected to travel between the member’s 

official residence and the location of the matters concerned. 

 

(2) Where a member who attends a matter to which Part IV or Part V of the Regulations 

applies returns to his or her official residence and travels thence on the same day to the 

same matter or another such matter or matters, the total travelling and subsistence 

allowances to be paid shall be the lesser of – 

 

(a) the amounts payable on the basis of the actual journeys and periods of absence 

in connection with the said matters, or 

 

(b) the amounts which would be payable if the member did not return to his or her 

official residence. 

 

(3) Where, on the same day, a member attends a matter or matters to which Part IV or Part 

V of the Regulations applies and a matter or matters of the type referred to in article 

7(2) of the Regulations, a travelling expenses allowance under article 8 of the 

Regulations shall only be payable in respect of any additional distance which it was 

necessary for the member to travel by reason of attendance at the matter to which Part 

IV or Part V of the Regulations applies over and above the distance which the member 

would reasonably have been expected to travel by reason of attendance only at the other 

matter or matters. 

 

8. Attendance at conferences and training locally or regionally 

Where a conference or training event for the purposes of Part V of the Regulations is organised 

within the area of more than one local authority, or more than one Regional Assembly area or 

other regional basis, or where the elected member attends at training listed at 2 (1)(b) to (f) 

under “Courses for which expenses may be paid” at Part VB of these Directions, the travel and 

subsistence payments shall be those applicable for attendance at the event organised within the 

local authority area or the area of the Regional Assembly, or other regional basis.  Where the 

elected member attends at an event other than the event in the local authority area or the area 

of the Regional Assembly or other regional basis, the payments shall be calculated on the lesser 

of the expenses payable for attendance at the actual event and the expenses payable for 

attending the event organised within the local authority area or the area of the Regional 

Assembly, or other regional basis, as appropriate. 

 

 

Page 45



16 
 

9. Scale of subsistence rates 

The scale of subsistence rates which shall be applied for the purpose of subsistence expenses 

allowances in accordance with article 9 of the Regulations shall, subject to these rules, be as 

set out in Schedule B to this Part. 

 

(1) A local authority may, subject to these rules, pay an overnight domestic subsistence 

allowance in accordance with the rate set out in Schedule B to this Part to a member who 

by reason of a matter to which Part IV or Part V of the Regulations applies, is obliged to 

spend a night away from home and could not reasonably be expected to have returned 

home.  

 

(2) An overnight domestic subsistence allowance will not generally be payable in respect of 

attendance at an event that is within 100 km of a member’s home or headquarters 

(whichever is the lesser).  However, where a local authority is satisfied that an operational 

need exists, an overnight allowance may be paid for attendance at an event at a location 

within 100 km but in excess of 50 km of home or headquarters.   

 

(3) In recognition of difficulties in sourcing suitable accommodation in Dublin within the 

standard overnight rate, it has been agreed that a separate vouched accommodation 

overnight rate may apply where members are required to stay overnight in County 

Dublin. In such cases the vouched costs of the Dublin accommodation up to a limit of 

the standard overnight rate plus the day rate for meals may be claimed. 

 

(4) An overnight domestic subsistence allowance shall cover a period of up to 24 hours from 

the time of departure of the member from his or her official residence. 

 

(5) A day subsistence allowance and an overnight subsistence allowance shall not both be 

paid in respect of the same period of absence save where an overnight absence exceeds 

24 hours (or, where an absence includes more than one night, a multiple of 24 hours) by 

not less than three hours. 

 

(6) A day allowance is not payable for an attendance on official business that is within 8 km 

of an elected member’s headquarters or home (whichever is the lesser). 

 

10. Return by member to official residence 

Where a member who attends a matter to which Part IV or Part V of the Regulations applies 

on two or more consecutive days returns to his or her official residence overnight instead of 

remaining overnight at the location of the event, the total travelling and subsistence expenses 

allowances to be paid shall be the lesser of – 

 

(a) the amounts payable on the basis of the actual distances travelled and periods of absence 

in connection with the matter, or 

(b) the amounts which would be payable if the member remained overnight at the location 

of the matter instead of returning to his or her official residence. 

 

11. Only one subsistence allowance payable 

A local authority shall not pay more than one subsistence expenses allowance to a member in 

respect of the same period of absence and shall not pay any subsistence allowance to a member 

in respect of any period or part of a period in respect of which an allowance is paid by, or is 

payable by, or is claimed from, another public authority or other body. 

Page 46



17 
 

 

12. Attendance at more than one matter  

(1) Where, on the same day, a member attends a matter or matters to which Part IV or Part 

V of the Regulations applies and a matter or matters of the type referred to in article 7 

(c) of the Regulations, a subsistence expenses allowance under article 9 of the 

Regulations shall only be payable in respect of any portion of such period of such 

absence attributable solely to the member’s attendance at the matter or matters to which 

Part IV or Part V of the Regulations applies including any travelling time reckonable 

in accordance with subparagraph (2). 

 

(2) For the purposes of subparagraph (1), the length of travelling time which may be 

included shall not exceed the length of time which the member spent or could 

reasonably be expected to have spent in travelling the distance in respect of which 

travelling expenses allowances are payable in accordance with the Regulations and 

these rules. 

 

13. Recoupment of costs 

Where a claim in respect of travelling or subsistence expenses allowances includes a claim for 

recoupment of costs incurred by a member, the amount of such costs which may be recouped 

by the authority to such member shall not be greater than the amount of such expenses 

reasonably incurred in accordance with the Regulations and these rules and for which 

satisfactory evidence in the form of all relevant receipts, tickets or other appropriate vouchers 

is furnished. 

 

14. Fee for attendance at event 

Where a local authority pays a fee in respect of the attendance of a member at a conference or 

other event to which Part IV or Part V of the Regulations applies or recoups the cost of such 

fee to such member, it may, insofar as appropriate take account, in the determination of any 

subsistence expenses allowance, of any subsistence covered by such fee and availed of by the 

member. 

 

15. Travel outside the State 

Where it is necessary for a member to travel outside the State for the purpose of a matter to 

which Part IV of the Regulations applies – 

 

(1) the local authority shall, where practicable, make the necessary arrangements, having 

regard to the need to minimise cost, 

 

(2) the local authority may pay a subsistence expenses allowance to the member in respect 

of the reasonable costs incurred by the member (excluding any costs incurred by the 

authority), in accordance with the scales of subsistence expenses allowances for the 

time being approved by the Minister for officers of local authorities travelling abroad, 

 

(3) where it is necessary for the member to make arrangements, the member shall have 

regard to the need to minimise cost and where the member pays the cost of a travel fare, 

the local authority may recoup the reasonable cost thereof to the member and the 

amount recouped shall not exceed the fare indicated on the ticket purchased and used 

in respect of the journey undertaken by such member and for which recoupment is 

sought. 

Page 47



18 
 

16. Expenses payable or recoupable by any other person 

A local authority shall not pay any travelling or subsistence expenses allowance or recoup any 

cost to a member in respect of any matter or any particular journey or part of a journey, or 

period of time, or item of expense which has been paid or recouped by, or is payable or 

recoupable by, any other person or body to such member or which has been claimed from any 

other person or body by such member. 

 

Where a member is attending a conference or absent for more than three hours and where a 

meal is provided to the member by any other body, or as part of the conference fee no 

subsistence allowance will be payable in respect of this period. 

 

Where meals have been provided the following deductions from the overnight/day rates should 

be applied; 

 

 Where lunch or dinner is provided – deduct a three hour rate 

 Where both lunch and dinner is provided – deduct a seven hour rate 

 Where breakfast is provided – deduct half the three hour rate 

 

17. Expenses covered by another allowance 

A local authority shall not pay any expenses allowance under regulations 8 or 9 of the 

Regulations (other than any allowance payable under paragraph 15 of this Part of the 

Appendix) in respect of any expenses covered by an allowance under section 143 of the Act 

(i.e. to a Cathaoirleach or Leas Cathaoirleach of a local authority or municipal district). 

 

18. Expenses allowances for committee members who are not local authority members 

(1) An expenses allowance to a member of a committee or joint policing committee under 

article 10 of the Regulations (i.e. where the person concerned is not a member of a local 

authority) shall be payable by the local authority by which such member was appointed.  

 

(2) These rules shall, insofar as applicable, apply in respect of persons to whom article 10 of 

the Regulations applies in the same way as they apply to a member of a local authority. 

 

19. Need to claim travelling or subsistence expenses allowances 

(1) A local authority shall not make any payment to a member in respect of travelling or 

subsistence expenses allowances under regulations 8 or 9 of the Regulations  unless the 

member has furnished to it a claim for such expenses, in such form as the local authority 

shall determine and containing Schedule C to this Part and                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                                  

containing such other statements (if any) as the local authority may determine (including, 

if the local authority so requires, proof of attendance at the event for which expenses are 

claimed). 

 

(2) Where a claim in respect of travelling or subsistence expenses allowances includes a 

claim for recoupment of costs incurred by a member, the claim shall be accompanied by 

all relevant receipts, tickets or other appropriate vouchers in respect of such costs. 

 

(3) A local authority shall not consider a claim in respect of travelling or subsistence expenses 

allowances unless all necessary information relating thereto has been duly furnished. 

 

(4) The claim form provided for at sub-paragraph (1) shall seek such particulars that will 

enable a local authority ensure that elected members – 

Page 48



19 
 

 

(a) provide all such details relevant to a claim as are sufficient to allow a local authority 

to make payment of only such allowances as relates to travel away from home on 

official business, and 

 

(b) provide such details as would be required to distinguish between travel expenses 

incurred for official business purposes and for other business or personal purposes. 

 

20. Non-entitlement to claim 

(1) A member shall not be entitled to take a particular journey or part of a journey, or a 

particular period of time or any other item into account for the purposes of more than one 

claim in respect of a travelling or subsistence expenses allowance and a member shall not 

make a claim from a local authority in respect of any matter or any particular journey or 

part of a journey, or period of time or item of expense which has been paid or recouped 

by, or is payable or recoupable by, any other local authority or person to such member or 

which has been claimed from any other local authority, person or body by such member. 

 

a) Where two or more members travel in the same vehicle in connection with a matter 

to which Part IV or Part V of the Regulations apply, not more than one such member 

may claim a travelling expenses allowance in respect of that journey except insofar 

as it is necessary for a member to use a separate means of transport for part of the 

journey. 

 

b) Where a member is attending a conference or absent for more than three hours and 

where a meal is provided to the member by any other body, or as part of the 

conference fee no subsistence allowance will be payable in respect of this period. 

 

c) Where meals have been provided the following deductions from the overnight/day 

rates should be applied; 

 

1. Where lunch or dinner is provided – deduct a three hour rate 

2. Where both lunch and dinner is provided – deduct a seven hour rate 

3. Where breakfast is provided – deduct half the three hour rate 

 

d) Where an elected member has engaged in activity in respect of business or personal 

purposes in the same period, details in that regard shall be provided to the local 

authority. 

 

21. Irish Public Bodies Mutual Insurances Ltd 

Expenses separate from members annual allowance may be paid for attendance at the AGM of 

the Irish Public Bodies (IPB) Mutual Insurances Ltd., subject to authorisation by the authority 

in accordance with these directions. 

 

22. Duty of Members Appointed to Outside Bodies   

A member may be elected, appointed or nominated by their local authority to other bodies (e.g. 

education and training boards, regional health fora, joint policing committees, etc) in line with 

the provisions set out under section 141 of the 2001 Act. Travel and subsistence expenses may 

be paid by outside bodies directly to a member for attendances at meetings of the body 

concerned or other events on behalf of that body.  

 

Page 49



20 
 

In most cases outside bodies that members are appointed to will be under the aegis of the 

relevant Minister with responsibility for that particular policy area (e.g. the Minister for 

Education and Skills in the case of ETBs). As such most outside bodies are not subject to 

direction from the Minister for Local Government except in cases where they fall within the 

Minister’s own area of responsibility (e.g. Regional Assemblies). Expenses may be paid by 

outside bodies in line with their own financial procedures and subject to any relevant directions 

that have issued from their own Department/Minister.     

 

Section 141(1A) of the 2001 Act (as inserted by section 53(1) of the Local Government Reform 

Act 2014) requires that where a member is elected, appointed or nominated to an outside body 

then he/she is required to notify their local authority within 15 working days of the end of each 

3 monthly period (31 March, 30 June, 30 September and 31 December) of the following - 

 

 all attendances by the member at meetings and events of the body concerned; 

 any payments (including travel expenses) made by or on behalf of that body to the 

member; and 

 details of distances travelled by the member where payments are made in respect of the 

use of a private vehicle. 

 

23. Public Register 

(1) A public register of attendances and payments under Section 142 and 143 shall be kept.  

 

(2) Members’ attention should be drawn to the requirements of section 141(1A) of the 2001 

Act, as inserted by section 53(1) of the 2014 Act, and set out in paragraph 22 above.     

 

(3) The information provided by the elected member must be published in the public 

register at subparagraph (1) above (section 142(4)(ga) of the 2001 Act, inserted by 

section 53(2)(b) of the 2014 Act). 

 

(4) The local authority may use these notifications from the elected members to ensure (i) 

no double payments where expenses are met by the other body and (ii) that the member 

is on the appropriate travel band, based on aggregation of distance travelled, when 

claiming travel expenses from the local authority in respect of conferences and training 

(see paragraph 24 below). 

 

(5) The register should be maintained on the council website, and it would be good practice 

to update this at least quarterly. 

 

  

Page 50



21 
 

24. Aggregated Travel Distance 

The revised arrangements for the reimbursement of motor travel expenses include four distance 

bands (as set out in Schedule A on the next page). These bands were set by the Minister for 

Public Expenditure and Reform following the acceptance of an agreed recommendation of the 

General Council under the Scheme of Conciliation and Arbitration for the Civil Service and 

now apply generally across the public sector.  

 

The Department of Public Expenditure and Reform has advised this Department that, in 

accordance with the Revenue Commissioners’ rules on reimbursement, all motor travel 

undertaken by a member should be aggregated on an annual basis (January to December) for 

the purpose of determining progression through the four travel bands. Where travel expenses 

are being claimed from more than one public service body (i.e. outside bodies) then it is the 

aggregated distance of all travel accrued that determines the travel band that the member is on 

at any given time.  

  

It is incumbent on each member, as the claimant, to make all relevant bodies aware of all motor 

travel expenses claimed to date during the calendar year in order to ensure reimbursement is 

being paid at the correct rate. Schedule D to this Part provides a form that members may choose 

to use for the purpose of recording events/meetings attended and distances travelled. 

 

The local authority should determine the travel band that each member is currently on based 

on the notification provided to the local authority by the member concerning aggregated 

distances travelled to attend meetings of outside bodies2. The local authority may request that 

the member provides relevant supporting documentation (e.g. agenda, copy of signed 

attendance sheet, minutes, etc.).    

 

                                                           
2 The Annual Travel Rate that members receive as part of their Annual Expenses Allowance (Paragraph 1 of Part I 

refers) should NOT be aggregated with the travelling expense allowance or with travel to meetings of outside bodies. 

The Annual Travel Rate is part of a composite allowance with unique rules that apply (i.e. the indexed bands for the 

notional number of meetings per year, 80% attendance rule, etc) and as such it should continue to be calculated 

separately.      

Page 51



22 
 

Schedule A 

 

Scale of Motor Travel Rates to be applied for the purposes of 

Travelling Expenses Allowances 

 

(Paragraph 1 of Part II refers) 

 

 

Scale A 

Motor Travel Rates per kilometre (effective from 1 April 2017) 

 

Official Motor Travel 

in a calendar year 

Engine Capacity 

Up to 1,200cc 

Engine Capacity 

1,201cc to 1,500cc 

Engine Capacity 

1,501cc and over 

0 - 1,500 km 37.95 cent 39.86 cent 44.79 cent 

1,501 - 5,500 km 70.00 cent 73.21 cent 83.53 cent 

5,501 – 25,000 km  27.55 cent 29.03 cent 32.21 cent 

25,001 km and over 21.36 cent 22.23 cent 25.85 cent 

 

 

 

Travel rates, which apply to officials, should be applied for the purposes of computing 

members’ annual allowances.  In future any changes to the travel rate of local authority 

officials should be applied automatically to members’ travel rates from the same effective date 

as for officials in the case of Ad Hoc travel.  

  

Page 52



23 
 

Schedule B 

 

(Paragraph 9 of Part II) 

 

Scale of Subsistence Rates to be applied for purposes of 

Subsistence Expenses Allowances 

 

 

Domestic Subsistence Rates (effective from 1 July 2019) 

 

Overnight Rates  Day Rates 

 

 

€ 

 

Absence of seven hours 

or more (€) 

Absence of three hours 

or more but less than 

seven hours (€) 

 

 

147.00 

 

36.97 

 

15.41 

 

 

The day rate which applies for officials’ absence of 10 hours or more should be applied for the 

purposes of computing members’ annual allowances.   

 

In future any changes to the subsistence rate of local authority officials should be applied 

automatically to members’ subsistence rates from the same effective date as for officials in the 

case of Ad Hoc travel and for the purposes of the annual subsistence rate of the annual 

expenses allowance.  

 
 

Vouched Accommodation Domestic Subsistence Rate for use in Dublin only 

 

 

Vouched Accommodation in County Dublin 

 

  

Meals 

 

Vouched cost of accommodation up to €147.00 

 

Plus 

 

€36.97 

 

Page 53



24 
 

Schedule C 

 

(Paragraph 19, Part II refers) 

 

Declaration by a person claiming expenses 

 

I declare that – 

 

a) I have necessarily incurred expenditure on travel and subsistence in respect of my 

authorised attendance at .................................................................................................... as 

authorised by ............................................................. council/municipal district (delete as 

required) at its meeting on .............. 20....; 

 

b) My hours of attendance at the aforementioned event were from ……………. to 

……………; 

 

c) My total estimated expenditure at the aforementioned event (i.e. the amount being recouped 

from the local authority amounts to €…………….; 

 

d) I have made the payments (if any) shown on the attached claim form (tickets/receipts and 

other relevant vouchers are attached); 

 

e) This claim, which includes details of activity incurred in respect of business or personal 

purposes in the same period but excludes a claim for any costs in respect of these business 

or personal activities, is made strictly in accordance with the Local Government (Expenses 

of Local Authority Members) Regulations 2014-2017, the Directions and the General Rules 

made by the Minister thereunder; 

 

f) The statements and particulars furnished herein are complete and accurate in all respects; 

 

g) No other payment has been made to me or is payable to me in respect of the time(s), 

journey(s) or other matters set out herein;   

 

h) I have not made, and will not make, any other claim for payment in respect of the time(s), 

journeys or other matters set out herein; 

 

Name of member (Block Capitals) ___________________________________________ 

 

Signature of member __________________________________________     

 

Date ______________________ 

 

  

Page 54



25 
 

Schedule D 

 

(Paragraph 24, Part II refers) 

 

Aggregated Travel Form 

Form to be maintained by a member for submission to their local authority  

if receiving payments for travel expenses from outside bodies 

 

Name and location  

of meeting, conference,  

training event, etc, attended 

Date  

dd/mm/yy 

Distance 

travelled in 

kilometres 

Total aggregate 

distance to date in 

kilometres 

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

   

 

 

 

   

Page 55



26 
 

Part III 

 

Rules in respect of Mobile Telephone Allowance 

 

A mobile telephone allowance under Part III of the Regulations shall be payable to a 

member in relation to the carrying-out of his or her duties as a member subject to the 

following –  

 

1. Local authorities shall, in the first instance, seek the most economical options either by 

negotiating a contract for the provision of mobile voice and data services (“bundle”) for its 

elected members or including elected members in the local authority’s own contracted 

bundle for such services.  Only in the event a cheaper option not being available should an 

allowance in accordance with paragraph 2 below be considered.  Local authorities shall be 

required to document and retain details of all costings to demonstrate that payment of an 

allowance is the cheaper option. 

 

2. An annual allowance of 50% of total vouched mobile phone costs associated with the public 

duties of a member of a local authority may be paid, subject to a maximum allowance of 

€600 per annum and subject to paragraph 1 above. 

 

3. If in any year a person is a member of a local authority for a period less than the full period 

of that year, the mobile telephone expenses allowance payable to such person by the 

authority shall be proportionate to the period of the year during which the person is a 

member, or, as appropriate, the local authority bundle for mobile phone and data services 

shall cease when the person is no longer a member of the authority. 

 

Page 56



27 
 

Part IV 

Other Allowances  

 

A. Allowances to Cathaoirligh and Leas-Chathaoirligh of Local Authorities, 

Cathaoirligh of Municipal Districts and Chairpersons of SPCs 

 

1. The allowance the local authority may decide to pay to the Cathaoirleach and Leas-

Chathaoirleach of the local authority shall not exceed that set out in Part A in the Table 

to this Part.   

 

2. The allowance municipal district members may decide that may be paid to the 

Cathaoirleach of municipal district shall not exceed that set out in Part B in the Table to 

this Part.  No allowance shall be paid to the Leas-Chathaoirleach of a municipal district.   
 

3. A local authority may pay an annual allowance not exceeding €6,000 to a Chairperson 

of a Strategic Policy Committee (SPC). 
 

4. The allowances shall be paid in instalments following the end of each month or of such 

greater period as the local authority or municipal district members, as appropriate, may 

decide.  
 

5. The allowances are to cover all matters associated with the posts, including meetings of 

the Corporate Policy Group, meetings with local authority officials, or meetings with 

external groups. 
 

6. Where a member serves as a Cathaoirleach of a local authority, as a Leas-Chathaoirleach  

of a local authority, as a Cathaoirleach of a municipal district or as a Chairperson of a 

Strategic Policy Group for a period of less than the full twelve months, the amount of 

allowance payable shall be calculated on a pro rata basis for that period. 
 

7. The decision to pay an allowance and the amount of such allowance is, subject to the 

maximum amount specified in paragraphs 1 to 3 above, a matter for determination by the 

members of each local authority and municipal district, as appropriate. 
 

8. The amount of allowances payable under this Part shall be shown in the Annual Report 

in line with the requirements of the Act. 

 

Page 57



28 
 

B. Allowances to Members of Municipal Districts and Area Committees 

 
1. The allowance the local authority may decide to pay to members of municipal districts 

and members of area committees shall not exceed €1,000 per annum. 

 

2. The allowance shall be paid in installments following the end of each month or of such 

greater period as the local authority or municipal district members, as appropriate, may 

decide.  

 

3. Where a member serves as a member of a municipal district for a period of less than 

the full twelve months, the amount of allowance payable shall be calculated on a pro 

rata basis for that period. 

 

4. The Revenue Commissioners have advised the Department that this allowance is liable 

for deduction of tax in the normal way. 

 

 
 

 
    

Page 58



29 
 

Tables for Part IV 

 

Maximum Amount of Allowances Payable to Cathaoirligh and Leas-Chathaoirligh of 

Local Authorities under Section 143 of the 2001 Act 

 

Class of Local 

Authority 

Maximum 

Amount of 

Allowance 

Payable to 

Cathaoirleach 

Maximum Amount 

of Allowance 

Payable to Leas-

Chathaoirleach 

Local authorities 

(listed for 

information 

purposes) 

Local authorities 

with more than 

50 members: 

€50,000 per 

annum 

€10,000 per annum, or 

no more than one fifth 

of the allowance 

payable to the 

Cathaoirleach, if less 

 

Dublin City Council 

Cork County Council 

Local authorities 

with 30-40 

members 

€30,000 per 

annum 

€6,000 per annum, or 

no more than one fifth 

of the allowance 

payable to the 

Cathaoirleach, if less 

Donegal, Dun-

Laoghaire Rathdown, 

Fingal, Galway 

County, Kerry, 

Kildare, Mayo, Meath, 

South Dublin, 

Tipperary, Wexford, 

Wicklow County 

Councils; 

Limerick and 

Waterford City and 

County Councils;  

Cork City Council 

 

Local authorities 

with 18-29 

Members 

€20,000 per 

annum 

€4,000 per annum, or 

no more than one fifth 

of the allowance 

payable to the 

Cathaoirleach, if less 

Carlow, Cavan, Clare, 

Kilkenny, Laois, 

Leitrim, Longford, 

Louth, Monaghan, 

Offaly, Roscommon, 

Sligo, Westmeath 

County Councils; 

Galway City Council 

 

 

Page 59



30 
 

  

Maximum Amount of Allowances Payable to Cathaoirligh of Municipal Districts under 

Section 143 of the 2001 Act  
 

Class of Municipal District Maximum 

Amount of 

Allowance 

Payable to 

Cathaoirleach 

 

Municipal Districts  

(listed for information purposes) 

Municipal District known as 

a Metropolitan District in 

accordance with section 

22A(2)(a) of the 2001 Act3 

 

€18,000  

per annum 

Metropolitan Districts of Limerick 

and Waterford  

Municipal District known as 

a Borough District or as the 

Municipal District of 

Kilkenny City in accordance 

with section 22A(2)(b) and 

(c) of the 2001 Act, and a 

Municipal District described 

at section 32(1A)(c) of the 

2001 Act4 

€12,000           

per annum 

Borough Districts of Clonmel, 

Drogheda, Sligo and Wexford;  

Municipal Districts of Athlone, 

Bray, Carlow, Celbridge-Leixlip, 

Dundalk, Ennis, Kildare-

Newbridge, Kilkenny City, 

Letterkenny-Milford, Mullingar, 

Naas, Navan and Tralee 

Municipal District other than 

the foregoing 

 

€6,000  

per annum 

Remaining Municipal Districts 

 

No allowance is payable to the Leas-Chathaoirleach of a municipal district. 

 

  

                                                           
3 As inserted by section 19 of the 2014 Act. 

 
4 As inserted by section 37(1) of the 2014 Act. 

Page 60



31 
 

Part V 

 

Allowances for Expenses for Attendance at Conferences and Training 

 

A.   Allowances for expenses for attendance at conferences 

 

1 Introduction 

(1) Article 11 of the Local Government (Expenses of Local Authority Members) 

Regulations 2014 (S.I. No. 236 of 2014) establishes a maximum amount of 

expenditure that can be incurred by a local authority under section 142(5) of the 

Local Government Act 2001, as amended by section 53(2) of the Local Government 

Reform Act 2014 (i.e. in respect of attendance by local authority members at 

conferences, seminars, or other meeting or event) whether within or outside of the 

State.  Such expenditure incorporates conference fees, as well as travel and 

subsistence costs.    

 

(2) The purpose of establishing such maxima is to restrict the overall amount of 

expenditure incurred by local authorities under section 142(5).   This is significantly 

reduced from the amount set in 2010 by the Local Government Act 2001 (Section 

142) Regulations 2010 (S.I. No. 37 of 2010).  Notwithstanding the reduction in the 

ceiling, there must remain a presumption against attendance at conferences 

organised to generate maximum attendance by councillors and hence conference 

fees, and a greater reference to the quality and relevance of conferences when 

deciding on attendance. 

 

(3) These Guidelines complement the Regulations by identifying best practice in regard 

to attendance at such events. 

 

(4) The Regulations and Guidelines together should be read in the context, inter alia, of 

the Code of Conduct for Councillors, which outlines that –  

 

(a) the public is entitled to expect conduct of the highest standards from all of those 

involved in the local government service, and the Local Government Act 2001 

imposes a statutory duty on all in the local government service to maintain proper 

standards of integrity, conduct and concern for the public interest, 

 

(b) the core principles underlying democratic local government are based on 

councillors acting in good faith and with fairness and impartiality for the 

common good and to promote the public interest, and    

 

(c) Councillors must be seen to act solely in the public interest, and to maintain and 

enhance public trust and confidence. 

 

2 Amount provided by local authorities for attendance at conferences, seminars, or 

other meeting or event 

(1) The Regulations set the maximum amount that can be provided by a local authority 

for attendance at events by councillors at €700 per annum, with €350 being the 

maximum for the period from 1 June 2019 to 31 December 2019. 

 

Page 61



32 
 

(2) The maximum amount for a local authority calculated in accordance with article 11 

should in no way be interpreted as being a target amount, or an amount deemed to 

be appropriate for a local authority in any year.  Article 11(2) leaves it open to each 

local authority to provide a lesser amount than the maximum specified in the 

Regulations.   

 

(3) The amount provided in its budget by a local authority to meet expenditure for the 

purposes of under section 142(5)(c) of the Act should be consistent with, and seen 

to be consistent with the major financial and other policy decisions being taken by 

the authority, and the general requirements to be prudent and to secure best value for 

money. 

 

3 Position of individual councillors 

(1) While the maximum amount provided by a local authority under section  142(5)(c) 

of the 2001 Act is calculated by reference to the number of councillors on that 

authority, this should not be interpreted as conferring on any individual councillor 

an entitlement to any part of the overall budget.  Accordingly, the limit on the 

payment under this heading shall be €1,000 per councillor per annum (and €500 in 

respect of the period from 1 June 2019 to 31 December 2019). 

 

(2) The decision of a local authority and a municipal district to authorise one or more 

members to represent the authority at a conference, seminar, meeting or event (i.e. 

under paragraph (b) of the said subsection (5)) is a separate decision.   It may well 

be that having regard to a variety of factors, for example, the experience, interests 

and committee involvement of different councillors, and the range of conferences 

and similar events occurring, the amount of expenditure incurred by different 

councillors will vary.   This is a matter for the local authority itself. 

 

4 Assessment of value of conferences 

(1) As up-coming conferences, seminars or other meetings or events come to the 

attention of a local authority, the authority should carry out an assessment of their 

relevance and suitability for its councillors.   It is suggested that the Corporate Policy 

Group would have a useful role to play in this regard. 

 

(2) The decision of a local authority to authorise one or more members to represent the 

authority at a particular conference, seminar etc under section 142(5)(b) should take 

account of –  

 

a) the resources available to fund attendance at the event, having regard to needs 

likely to arise later in the year concerned, 

b) the cost of attendance at the event (including attendance fees and travelling and 

subsistence expenses payable for attendance),  

c) how the event compares in terms of efficacy and value for money with other 

similar meetings or events. 

 

(3) In authorising members to attend events, account should be taken of the following 

factors –  

 

a) size of delegation - the number of members attending any event should be the 

minimum necessary to represent the authority at the event consistent with 

Page 62



33 
 

producing the required benefit for the members concerned, the authority and the 

community, 

b) members attending - the selection of a particular member to attend any event 

should, where possible, (and in addition to any identified needs) take account of 

his/ her particular areas of proven interest in relation to the council, their 

membership of an SPC or other local authority/ Committee, or their participation 

in community activities of a particular nature or sector, and 

c) any follow-up action that the local authority or its elected members need or 

propose to take following the event or in the future. 

 

5 Requirements on members in relation to attendance at conferences 

(1) Having been authorised to attend an event under section 142, a councillor is required 

in all circumstances to – 

 

a) attend that event and participate in the proceedings to the greatest extent 

possible, and 

 

b) submit a written report within 15 days to the Cathaoirleach, who shall submit 

the report to the next ordinary meeting of the council.  The report must indicate 

the nature of the meeting and contain a summary of the proceedings.  This report 

shall be made available free of charge on request to any member of the public; 

for this purpose it may be put on the local authority’s website. The requirements 

in relation to reports by attendees and making the report available to the public 

are in large part new requirements under section 142(5)(f) (as amended) and 

section 142(5)(fa).   

 

(2) The Minister considers that default arrangements should be for the report from the 

member and the proceedings to remain available on the local authority’s website, 

with omission only of documentation where clear copyright restrictions so require. 

 

B. Allowances for expenses for attendance at training events 

 

1 Introduction 

(1) Under section 142(5A) of the 2001 Act, as inserted by section 53(1)(d) of the 2014 Act, 

the provision of allowances for expenses for training is separated from the allowances 

for expenses for conferences, on the basis that attendance at training events will be of 

greater advantage to individual councillors and thus to the overall membership of the 

council and ultimately of greater benefit to the people the councillors represent. 

 

(2) From 2010, local authorities have been required to adopt a Training and 

Development Programme for Councillors, the objective of which now will be -   

 

a) to adopt a more structured approach to supporting the development needs of 

councillors so that they can discharge their duties as effectively as possible, and 

b) to inform decisions by the elected council on the training events for which 

councillors should be supported. 

 

(3) The Programme should have regard, inter alia, to –  

 

Page 63



34 
 

a) the key policy issues and challenges facing the councillors and the local 

authority generally,    

b) the stage of the local government term; the training and development needs may 

be different at the beginning and end of a local government term, 

c) the profile and experience of the councillors, including the events already 

attended by councillors generally, and 

d) The likely resources that will be available to meet training needs under section 

142(5A) of the 2001 Act for the development of councillors. 

 

2 Courses for which expenses for attendance may be paid 

(1) Within the context of the overall programme, consideration should only be given to:-   

 

a) Attendance at the annual conference of, and specific training events provided 

by, the Association of Irish Local Government (AILG); 

b) the need at the beginning of a new local government term for induction courses 

organised by the local authority itself within the local authority area and by the 

AILG; 

c) attendance at appropriate events organised by national representative bodies 

for functions for which local authorities have responsibilities.  The bodies must 

have a remit in relation to the relevant functional area, and represent relevant 

bodies or individuals active in relation to that function across a range of matters 

other than provision of training.  Examples would include the IPI and RIAI in 

relation to planning functions; 

d) programmes of education and training which relate to functions for which local 

authorities have responsibilities and which are validated by Quality and 

Qualifications Ireland, the body established by the Qualifications and Quality 

Assurance (Education and Training) Act, 2012, (formerly FETAC and HETAC 

courses).  This is to ensure that the training is externally accredited or validated, 

and includes courses and training programmes provided by a wide range of 

educational bodies; 

e) the possible inclusion of structured training or educational courses that would 

lead to or contribute to qualifications of relevance to the functions of the local 

authority and of councillors.   This could include, for example, distance or on-

line courses leading to the award of qualifications which are recognised within 

the National Framework of Qualifications; and 

f) such other training which may be approved by the Minister from time to time.  

The Minister, in the development of a training regime for elected members (see 

below) will assess the programmes or bodies that contribute to the training 

and/or continuous professional development of elected members.  Training 

provided by the Institute of Public Administration in relation to local 

government is hereby approved by the Minister for the purposes of this provision. 

 

(2) Consideration may also be given to the annual seminars and conferences of Local 

Authority Members Association (LAMA).  Normally, 2 are arranged per annum, and 

attendance will be limited to 2 events per annum organised by LAMA. 

 

(3) For educational programmes identified at subparagraphs (2)(d) and (e) above at 

Level 6 and above in the National Qualification Framework, the local authority 

should pay a proportion only of the course fees where these are in excess of €500 

per annum, and should in no case pay a contribution in excess of €1,500 per annum.  

Page 64



35 
 

Payment should be made annually in arrears following satisfactory evidence that all 

examinations have been passed and the elected member is eligible to progress to the 

next stage of the course, were the course is not completed.  The payment of a 

contribution only of such course fees reflects the expectation that qualifications at 

Level 6 and above will be of benefit to the elected member outside his or her role as 

an elected member. 

 

(4) While the manner in which the Programme is prepared is a matter for local 

authorities, it is suggested that it could be prepared in the first instance with the 

assistance of relevant personnel in the local authority.  

 

4 Further training that may be provided for 

The Department periodically meets with the AILG to discuss the training needs of elected 

members. There may be further guidance issued to supplement, or as appropriate amend, this 

circular letter with regard to individual training events or longer-term training needs   

 

5 Training and development by local authorities 

(1) Local authorities themselves are requested to consider on an on-going basis their 

own potential to meet a greater proportion of the training and development needs of 

members. Local authorities, particularly the larger ones have -   

a) structures in place for the training and development of staff that could be 

extended to also meet the needs of councillors, and 

b) much in-house expertise across the range of local authority policy areas. 

 

(2) Local authorities should also consider the possibilities for cooperation and 

coordination between themselves in this regard. 

Page 65



36 
 

Part VI 

General Rules in respect of the Allowances 

 

1. Notification of official address 

A member of a local authority or of a committee, joint committee or joint policing committee 

shall, as soon as possible after becoming such member, notify the local authority of the address 

of his or her official residence and provide any other relevant information required by the local 

authority for the purposes of the Regulations or of these rules and shall notify the local authority 

as soon as possible of any subsequent changes in such address or information. 

 

2. Authorisation by local authority for representation at event 

The following provisions shall apply in relation to an authorisation for the purposes of 

sections 142(5) and 142(5A) of the Act: - 

 

(1) The resolution in relation to an authorisation shall specify by name the member or 

members of the local authority which it is proposed to authorise and these shall be 

recorded in the minutes of the meeting at which the authorisation was given.  This 

authorisation is a reserved function of the local authority, and it is a matter for the 

elected members of the local authority to determine whether this function may be 

delegated to municipal district members under the provisions of section 131A(2) of 

the 2001 Act (as inserted by section 31(3) of the 2014 Act). 

 

(2) Before a decision is taken to give an authorisation, the Chief Executive shall inform 

the members of the estimated total cost which is likely to result from the proposed 

attendance at or participation in the matter to which the proposed authorisation 

relates and the members shall have regard to this and to the provision made for such 

purposes in the annual estimate of expenses, for the purposes of section 142(5) or 

section 142(5A) of the of the Act, as appropriate,   

 

(3) In deciding the number of persons to be authorised to attend conferences, seminars 

or other meeting or event other than a training event (i.e. under section 142(5)), the 

members shall have regard to the need to minimise the costs which are likely to result 

from attending or participating in the matter to which the proposed authorisation 

relates and to ensure that the number authorised does not exceed a reasonable 

proportion of the total number of members of the authority. 

 

(4) In deciding the number of persons to be authorised to avail of training or attend 

training events (i.e. under section 142(5A)), the members shall have regard to the 

benefits of increasing the skills and knowledge base of the elected members, their 

continued development in their role, the need to achieve efficiencies in delivery of 

such training and the need to minimise the costs which are likely to result from 

attending or participating in the matter to which the proposed authorisation relates. 

 

3. Matters to be recorded in Annual Report 

(1) The particulars to be recorded separately in the annual report of a local authority 

under section 221 of the Act shall include the following: 

 

(a) the total amount of payments made by the local authority under Part II and Part 

III, and to non-members of the council under regulations 8, 9 and 10 of the 

Regulations; 

Page 66



37 
 

 

(b) the total amount of payments made by the local authority in respect of each of 

the matters specified in paragraph (b) of section 142(1) of the Act; 

 

(c) the amounts of payments made by the local authority in respect of the matters 

specified in the said paragraph (b) which related to travel or subsistence 

expenses within or outside the State respectively; 

 

(d) the total amount of all payments made by the local authority in accordance with 

regulations made under the said section 142. 

 

(2) The following particulars shall be recorded in the annual report of a local authority 

- 

 

(a) the number of meetings of the local authority and of municipal district members 

which were held during the year, 

 

(b) the title, purpose and number of members of each committee and joint 

committee and the number of meetings of each committee, joint committee and 

joint policing committee held during the year, 

 

(c) the public authorities and other bodies on which the local authority or any 

committee or joint committee was represented and the  names of such 

representatives, 

 

(d) the conferences, seminars and other similar events under section 142(5) at which 

the local authority or any committee or joint committee was represented during 

the year, specifying the purpose of each such event, whether such event was 

held within or outside the State and the number of representatives of the local 

authority or of any committee or joint committee who attended in each case. 

 

(e) the training availed of by members, and the training events attended by members 

under section 142(5A), specifying the title of each training event, the body 

which provided it and the number of representatives of the local authority or of 

any committee or joint committee who attended in each case 

 

(3) For the purposes of subparagraph (1)(b), payments in respect of attendance at 

conferences, seminars, etc. held by the AILG and LAMA shall be included in the 

total. 

 

4. Avoidance of unnecessary or excessive cost 

 A local authority and municipal district members shall ensure, as far as possible, that 

meetings of the authority, the municipal district members and any committees and joint 

committees and any events to which Part IV and Part V of the Regulations applies for 

which it is responsible, are so arranged and that the business at such meetings or other 

events is so managed as to avoid any unnecessary or excessive cost in respect of travelling 

or subsistence expenses allowances. 

 

Page 67



38 
 

5. Record of payments 

 A local authority shall keep a record of all payments made under sections 142 and 143 of 

the Act, specifying the amount and nature of each payment and the name of the person to 

whom it was made and any other relevant particulars.  

 

6. Repayment of payments not due 

(1) Where in any case a payment was made to a member of a local authority or to a 

member of a committee or a joint committee of such authority in respect of  travelling 

or subsistence expenses and such member was not entitled to such payment or was 

entitled to a lesser amount than that actually paid, then such member shall be liable 

to repay to the local authority an amount equal to such payment or, as the case may 

be, a sum representing the difference between the amount actually paid and the 

amount to which the member was properly entitled. 

 

(2) Where a member fails to comply with the requirement of subparagraph (1) within a 

reasonable period, the local authority shall take any necessary action to recover the 

amount which is repayable by such member and without prejudice to any other 

method of recovery, any sum repayable in accordance with subparagraph (1) may be 

recovered by deduction from, or suspension of, any other payments to which the 

member would otherwise be entitled in accordance with the Regulations and these 

rules. 

 

7. Member’s official residence 

(1) Where a member’s official residence changes to a place which is outside of the 

functional area of the local authority, the number of kilometres outside such 

functional area which may be reckoned for the purposes of the Regulations and these 

rules shall not exceed – 

 

(a) where the member’s official residence immediately prior to such change was 

outside such functional area, the number kilometres outside the functional area 

which was reckonable prior to the change, 

 

(b) in any other case, 16 kilometres. 

 

 

 

Page 68



39 
 

Appendix I 

Allowances for expenses incurred by elected members 

 

Guidance notes regarding the 

Local Government (Expenses of Local Authority Members) Regulations 2014-2017   

Directions issued by the Minister under Article 17 of the Regulations 

 

(1)  Annual Expenses Allowances  

(1) Part II of the Regulations provides for the annual expenses allowance system, the 

general terms of which have already been announced by the Minister and notified to 

local authorities.   It will be noted that payment of the annual expenses allowance 

will continue to be proportionate to  -  

i. the period of the year for which a person was a member, and 

 

ii. to the member’s attendance rate with respect to a “quota” of 80% of all meetings 

which the member was due to attend.   

 

(2) Groupings of local authorities for the purpose of the annual allowance system are set 

out in the Schedule to the Regulations. 

 

(3) The rates and other rules to be applied for the calculation of annual expenses 

allowances are set out in Part I of the directions given by the Minister under article 

17 of the Regulations. 

 

(2) Travelling and Subsistence Expenses Allowances (other than Annual Expenses 

Allowances) 

(1) Part IV and Part V of the Regulations provides for the payment of individual 

travelling or subsistence allowances (apart from the annual expenses allowance) on 

an ad hoc basis in certain cases, viz. attendance at conferences, seminars and similar 

events, training events, certain types of meetings held outside of the functional area 

of the local authority, visits in connection with twinning or similar arrangements and 

any other matters which might be specified in directions given by the Minister.   

 

(2) The matters in respect of which travelling or subsistence expenses allowances will 

be payable on an ad hoc basis are provided for at article 7 of the Regulations.   

Matters which are specifically excluded for the purposes of such allowances are set 

out in article 7(2) of the Regulations.    

 

(3) Particular attention is drawn to the fact that travelling and subsistence expenses on 

an ad hoc basis are not payable to elected members in respect of meetings of a local 

authority, meetings of municipal district members, or committees and joint 

committees, including such committees the joint policing committee (either by a 

local authority or the committee/ joint committee), and other types of meetings held 

within the functional area of the local authority. These are covered by the annual 

expenses allowance.    
 

(4) Local authorities are reminded that the payment of expenses in connection with 

meetings of any public authorities or committees, etc. of such authorities on which 

a local authority may be represented is a matter for the body concerned, e.g. ETBs, 

regional health fora, regional assemblies.  The elected member must, within 15 days 

Page 69



40 
 

of the end of each quarter, notify the local authority of his or her attendance at the 

relevant meetings and any payments made by the body (including in relation to travel 

by private vehicle, the distances travelled) – see section 141(1A) of the 2001 Act, as 

inserted by section 53(1) of the 2014 Act.   

 

(5) By virtue of sections 142(4)(g and (ga), all payments under sections 141, 142 and 

143 of the Act are required to be published by the local authority in the public 

register.  The local authority shall maintain a copy of this register publicly available 

on the website of the local authority. 

 

(3) Rules and Rates for Travelling and Subsistence Expenses Allowances 

(1) Rules in relation to travelling and subsistence expenses allowances payable under 

Part IV of the Regulations are set out in Part II of the directions; they incorporate the 

general rules and the scale of travel and subsistence rates applicable. The rates are 

also set out in Schedules A and B respectively to Part II.  It should be noted, in 

particular that in the case of attendance on the same day at –  

 

(a) a matter to which Part IV of the Regulations does not apply (e.g. covered by the 

annual expenses allowance or for which expenses are payable by another party), 

and  

 

(b) a matter to which Part V does apply (e.g. a conference, seminar, etc., and training 

events)  

 

(2) travelling and subsistence expenses allowances will only be payable in respect of 

any additional distance or period of absence arising from the latter over and above 

what the former would in any case have involved (see in particular paragraphs 7(3) 

and 12(1) of Part II of the directions.    

 

(3) It should also be noted that a travelling or subsistence allowance under Part IV or 

Part V of the Regulations should not be paid unless a claim is accompanied by a 

signed declaration as set out in Schedule C to Part II of the directions. 

 

(4) Local Authority Authorisations 

With regard to attendance at conferences, seminars or other meetings or events, attention 

is drawn to the requirement in section 142(5)(d) of the Act that such attendance should not 

be authorised unless the authority is satisfied that this is justified having regard to costs, 

benefits and the general interests of the authority’s area and the local community.  

Similarly, in relation to training events, attention is drawn to the same requirements under 

section 142(5A)(d) of the Act. 

 

(5) Allowances to Chairpersons of SPCs 

The rules in relation to the payment of an annual allowance to Strategic Policy Committees 

are set out in Part IV of these directions.   The allowance is expenses related and therefore 

are not subject to income tax. 

 

(6) Rules for Expenses Allowances Generally 

General Rules in relation to members’ expenses are set out in Part V of the directions, 

incorporating the rules and requirements which apply generally to the making of claims 

for or payment of expenses allowances and other matters relating to expenses. 

Page 70



41 
 

 

(7) Payments in Accordance with Regulations and Directions 

Attention is drawn to article 16 of the Regulations which prohibits any payments in respect 

of expenses to members of local authorities or of committees, joint committees and joint 

policing committees except in accordance with the Act, the Regulations and these 

directions. 

 

(8) General Arrangements, Procedures, etc. 

Local authorities are also recommended to continue to keep under review the organisation 

of council and committee business with a view to maximising efficiency and economy and 

minimising the burden on members. 

 

(9) Taxation Implications for Allowances under Sections 142 and 143 of the Act 

(1) Section 143 of the Local Government Act, 2001 permits the payment by a local 

authority of an allowance for reasonable expenses to the Cathaoirleach and to the 

Leas-Chathaoirleach of the local authority, and to the Cathaoirleach of municipal 

district members, subject to the directions of the Minister. 

 

(2) As previously notified to local authorities, following an examination by the Revenue 

Commissioners of the operation of this system (including amounts and arrangements 

for payment) instructions issued to all local authorities regarding the tax treatment of 

such allowances. These arrangements continue in force as required by Revenue. 
 

(3) In light of the foregoing, guidance is outlined below as regards certain related matters, 

as understood by this Department: 

 

(a) the fixed annual expenses allowance and vouched annual expenses allowance is 

payable without deduction of tax,  

(b) the allowance for the chairperson of a Strategic Policy Committee is payable 

without deduction of tax, and 

(c) the role of the Leas-Chathaoirleach is, under the Local Government Act, 2001, 

confined to acting in place of the Cathaoirleach in certain circumstances.  

Accordingly if an allowance for reasonable expenses is considered appropriate, 

it should reflect this position and be limited to a modest sum approximate to 

likely expenses, and may not exceed one-fifth of the allowance payable to the 

Cathaoirleach. 

(d) the allowance for members of municipal districts/area committees is treated as 

taxable income. 

  

Page 71



42 
 

APPENDIX II 

 

Summary of the Expenses and Allowances System  

 

NOTE:  This Appendix is a summary only and should be read in conjunction with the 

Regulations and Directions issued together with this circular. 

 

Item Existing Position  Comment 

Meetings’ bands 

for Annual 

Expenses 

Allowances for 

County/ County 

and City/ City 

Councils 

 

Details in relation 

to the application 

of the revised 

indices to the 

relevant councils 

are set out in 

article 5 of the 

Regulations and 

Parts I, II, III and 

IV of the Schedule 

thereto. 

 

The councils of the 

counties of Carlow, 

Cavan, Kilkenny, 

Laois, Leitrim, 

Louth, Longford, 

Monaghan, Offaly, 

Roscommon, Sligo, 

and Westmeath and 

the council of the city 

of Galway. 

 

Index = 80  

(travel rate) 

 

Index = 40 

(subsistence rate) 

 

The councils of the 

counties of Clare, 

Donegal, Galway, 

Kerry, Kildare, 

Mayo, Meath, 

Tipperary, Wexford 

and Wicklow, the 

councils of the cities 

and counties of 

Limerick and 

Waterford and the 

council of the city of 

Cork. 

Index = 110  

(travel rate) 

 

Index = 55 

(subsistence rate) 

North and South 

Tipperary county 

councils and 

Waterford city and 

county councils 

were previously at 

Index 80 (travel 

rate)/ Index 40 

(subsistence rate) 

 

Limerick county 

council and 

Limerick city 

council were 

previously at this 

Index 110 (travel 

rate)/ Index = 55 

(subsistence rate) 

 

The councils of the 

counties of Dun 

Laoghaire-

Rathdown, Fingal 

and South Dublin. 

Index = 150  

(travel rate) 

 

Index = 75 

(subsistence rate) 

 

 

The council of the 

county of Cork and 

the council of the city 

of Dublin. 

Index = 170  

(travel rate) 

 

Index = 85 

(subsistence rate) 

 

 

Page 72



43 
 

Item Existing Position  Comment 

Expenses allowances to Cathaoirligh and 

Leas-Chathaoirligh of local authorities are 

set out in Part VI of the Regulations and 

Part IV of the directions. 

 See Table for limits 

set by Minister for 

Cathaoirleach. 

 

Limit for Leas-

Chathaoirleach at 
1/5

th the rate for 

Cathaoirleach. 

 

Expenses allowances to Cathaoirleach of 

municipal districts (which include 

metropolitan districts) are set out in Part 

VI of the Regulations and Part IV of the 

directions. 

 

 See Table for limits 

set by Minister for 

Cathaoirleach. 

 

 

Expenses allowances to chairpersons of 

Strategic Policy Committees (SPCs) are 

set out in Part VI of the Regulations and 

Part IV of the directions. 

 

€6,000 per annum  

Allowances to members of municipal 

districts and members of area committees 

 

€1,000 per annum  

Annual Mobile Phone Allowances in 

respect of 50% of the total vouched costs 

of mobile phone usage in association with 

the public duties of a councillor. 

 

 

 

Inclusion in the 

local authority’s 

contract for 

mobile data and 

voice (“bundle”) 

or where lesser, 

€600 p.a. towards 

vouched expenses. 

 

Inclusion in bundle 

is a new provision. 

 

 

  

Page 73





 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
LG 04/2019 
 
 
5 July 2019 

 
 
Domestic subsistence rates for elected members of local authorities 
 
 

Dear Chief Executive, 
 
I am directed by the Minister for Local Government and Electoral Reform to inform you 

that the standard rates of domestic subsistence allowance have been revised. This 

follows an agreed recommendation made by the General Council under the scheme of 

conciliation and arbitration for the Civil Service. The revised rates have now been 

approved by the Minister for Public Expenditure and Reform with effect from 1 July 2019 

and apply to elected members of local authorities from this same date.  

 

The revised subsistence rates affect two expenses allowances that are payable to elected 

members of local authorities – 

 

1. subsistence expenses allowance; and  

2. annual expenses allowance payable towards the cost of attending meetings. 

 

1. Subsistence expenses allowance 

The daily subsistence 3 hour rate for elected members is increased from €14.01 to €15.41 

and the 7 hour rate from €33.61 to €36.97. There is no change to the overnight rate.  

 

Overnight rate Day Rates 

 
Absence of 7 hours  

or more  
Absence of 3 hours or 

more but less than 7 hours  

 
€147.00 €36.97 €15.41 

 
A Vouched Accommodation ("VA") rate continues to apply towards sourcing suitable 

accommodation in Dublin within the standard rate. In such cases, a Vouched 

Accommodation Rate consisting of the vouched costs of accommodation up to a limit of 

the standard overnight rate plus the 7 hour rate (€147.00 plus €36.97). 

Page 75



 

2. Annual Expenses Allowance 

The 7 hour rate is used as the basis for calculating the subsistence element of the Annual 

Expenses Allowance that is payable to members to offset costs incurred in attending 

council meetings. As such this is also increased to €36.97 with effect from 1 July 2019. 

This former rate of €33.61 continues to apply in repect of attendances at meetings that 

took place earlier this year (from 1 January to 30 June 2019). 

 

 

The directions issued by the Minister under article 17 of the Local Government (Expenses 

of Local Authority Members) Regulations 2014-2017 have been updated to reflect the 

increases to the subsistence rates. Some other minor updates have also been made, 

including to the section dealing with the maximum amount of allowance payable to 

cathaoirligh of municipal districts to reflect changes to the names of some municipal 

districts following the Local Electoral Area Boundary Committee Reports. A copy of the 

updated directions is enclosed with this circular (Appendix I).  

 

This circular should be brought to the attention of all elected members in your local 

authority as well as relevant employees who process travel and subsistence claims. 

Enquiries concerning travel and subsistence for elected members may be addressed to 

Grant Couper (grant.couper@housing.gov.ie) or Gary McGuinn 

(gary.mcguinn@housing.gov.ie).  

 

 

Yours sincerely 

 
______________   

Gary McGuinn 
Assistant Principal Officer 
Local Government Oversight and Governance Section 
 

For the attention of: chief executives and elected members 

Cc: AILG, LAMA 

 

Page 76

mailto:grant.couper@housing.gov.ie
mailto:gary.mcguinn@housing.gov.ie


Report for Protocol Committee 5th September 2019 

 

 

Loan of the Chain of the Court of Conscience to the Department of Culture, Heritage and the 

Gaeltacht 

A request has been received from the Department of Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht for the 

loan of the Chain of the Court of Conscience for  ‘pop-up’ exhibitions as follows: 

1. The Industry and Commerce Building, 23 Kildare Street, Dublin D02 TD30, Headquarters to 

the Departments of Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht and Business, Enterprise and 

Innovation for the period October 2019 to January 2020. 

2. The Coach House, Dublin Castle from February to May 2020 

 

Backgound: 

The Chain of the Court of Conscience was formerly worn by the President of the Court of Conscience 

for settlement of small debts.  Following the election of Lord Mayor Kathleen Clarke in 1939, she 

refused to wear the Great Chain and wore the Chain of the Court of Conscience during her term. 

The Department of Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht have been hosting an exhibition entitled 

“Women in Politics and Public Life 1918-2018” and it features Kathleen Clarke.   

The exhibition was previously in Dublin Castle from Friday 14th December 2018 to Sunday 3rd 

February 2019 and in the Istabraaq Hall in Limerick City and County Museum from 7th February 2019 

to 5th April 2019.  The City Council Protocol Committee approved the loan of the Chain of the Court 

of Conscience for the Dublin Castle Exhibition at their meeting of 10th May 2018.  The Protocol 

Committee agreed in principle to the loan for the Limerick Exhibition at their meeting of 31st January 

and the full Council approved the loan at their meeting of 4th February 2019. 

All conditions laid down by City Archivist Dr. Mary Clark, including the requirements for the 

exhibition case, and by our Insurers IPB have been adhered to during both loans.   

City Archivist Dr. Mary Clark has no objection to this request for the loan of the Chain for exhibition 

in Kildare Street October 2019 – January 2020 and Dublin Castle February 2020 – May 2020 subject 

to the following additional conditions: 

 The Court of Conscience Chain will be returned to Dublin City Council during the term of 

exhibitions, if it is required for ceremonial purposes. 

 The Court of Conscience Chain will be exhibited as laid out in the previous Agreement 

between Dublin City Council and Department of Culture, Heritage and the Gaeltacht. 

 Label in the display case for Court of Conscience Chain will credit Dublin City Council.  Dublin 

City Council will also be credited in all publicity, including Photographs, relating to Court of 

Conscience Chain. 

Page 77



 

Photo of the Chain on display in Dublin Castle 

Page 78



Page 79



Page 80



Page 81



Page 82



Page 83





Policy and Procedures for the Management and 
Development of Public Art in Dublin City  

 
1. Foreword 

The Policy and Procedures for the Management and Development of Public Art in Dublin 
City is intended to provide a clear framework which will formalise systems and structures for 
public art while giving scope for public art programming and commissions which will give 
established and emerging artists exciting and challenging opportunities to work with Dublin 
City Council in the delivery of public art.  
 

2. Background 
Public art has long been dominated by an emphasis on the visual and tangible, mostly 
because of the origins of the Per Cent for Art scheme in Ireland and because of a desire to 
commission ‘artistic features’ and permanent public sculpture to adorn buildings and 
infrastructural schemes.  Since 1997 under direction from the Department of Environment, 
Heritage and Local Government and in particular since the publication of the National 
Guidelines for the Per Cent for Art Scheme in 2004, the understanding of public art has 
broadened to include all artforms and artistic disciplines.1  The development of 
interdisciplinary practices, working across artforms as well as with other fields of knowledge, 
including, science, planning, philosophy, geography, sociology, archaeology, etc, has given 
artists greater scope to draw on their enquiries and research, broadening the potential for 
public art to impact on the city. 
 

3. Vision 
Dublin City Council will develop a Public Art Programme which will offer opportunities for 
artists to engage with the city, making new work that responds to the context of Dublin as 
capital of Ireland, international city, and city of communities and localities.  The Programme 
intends to create connections and collaboration between different areas of the city council’s 
work and interconnection between art, city and the public.   
 

4. Statement 
The Public Art Programme will support artists working in all artforms, and all forms of 
expression, permanent, temporary and time based.   
 

5. Value and Nature of Public Art  
Dublin City Council believes that Public Art has the capacity to add greatly to the city, 
breathing life and energy into different situations and contexts, sparking new ways of 
thinking for artists that in turn effect the making and practice of art.  The City Council 
recognises the value and relevance of public art and invests in this area of work, as part of 
its arts and cultural agenda and because of its potential to link to other fields of living.  Public 
Art practice offers opportunities to work across city departments and institutional boundaries, 
combining and exchanging knowledge, thereby enabling artists to create work that reflects 
on and responds to the city as a context.   
 
The Policy and Procedures for the Management and Development of Public Art in Dublin 
City sets out a strategic approach to public art programming within the city and includes 
commissions, donations, commemoration and memorials.  The Public Art Programme will 
support an ambitious and thought-provoking programme of commissions across artistic 
disciplines based on curatorial policy and directions. The programme will include 
commissions that are not bound by specific constructions schemes but can be situated 

                                                 
1
 Public Art:  The Per Cent for Art Scheme, National Guidelines, Department of Arts, Sports and Tourism, Dublin, 

2004 

Page 85



within the broader context of the city. The programme will also include critical debate, 
engagement, education, mediation, documentation and publications. There will be openness 
to ideas that come from all sources including, artists, curators, and arts agencies and from 
local communities.     
 

6. Strategy towards a Public Art Policy 
Dublin City Council will adopt a strategy and structures for the efficient delivery of the public 
art programme, in order to maximise its potential while encouraging creativity and interaction 
with the public.   
 

6.1 Principles 
• The Art and Culture Advisory Group will act as the City Council’s specialist advisory 

group overseeing the public art programme. 

• The Public Art Programme will reflect and maintain connectivity with the objectives 
set out in the City Arts Plan, Culture Strategy and the Dublin City Development Plan  

• Dublin City Council Departments will be encouraged to apply for Per Cent for Art 
Funding for all capital developments. 

• A single Finance Code will be established and maintained to allow for the pooling of 
funds from the Per Cent for Art Scheme and from other revenue funding for public 
art, and to enable a coherent public art policy to be devised and implemented.   

• Clear guidelines will be established to adequately assess proposals for donations, 
civic contributions and commemorations. 

• Private Developers will be supported to consider public art through the publication of 
guidelines and/or through contributory levies.   

• There will be support for connection to and dialogue with external expertise, including 
artists, curators, organisations, international agencies, and third level institutions that 
have an interest in public art practice and its potential. 

 
6.2 Specific Role of the Art and Culture Advisory Group on Public Art 
• To approve a strategic approach to the delivery of the public art programme within 

the City, including Per Cent for Art Commissions, donations, commemorative works 
and monuments. 

• Maintaining an overview of public art procurement and commissioning, management 
and funding.  

• Consideration (twice yearly) of proposals (external or from within Dublin City Council) 
for permanent artworks (commissions, donations, commemorations and monuments) 
within the framework of the Public Art Policy and Procedures for the Management 
and Development of Public Art in Dublin City. 

• To provide support and feedback to the Public Art Manager. 

• To agree a Five Year Public Art Programme.  
 

7. Public Art Expertise 
• The development and implementation of a vision, policy and strategy requires the 

involvement of public art expertise.  The role of public art expertise is recognised by 
Dublin City Council as an essential part of the support and development of public art.  
In this context three arts experts will be invited to become members of the Art and 
Culture Advisory Group. 

• The three arts experts will have a background in different art forms (in order to reflect 
public art practice and the National Guidelines for the Per Cent for Art Scheme). 

• The three arts experts will have an understanding of contemporary art and a track 
record in public art practice 

• At least one of the three arts experts will be a practising artist (from any art form). 
• Gender balance within the Art and Culture Advisory Group will be considered in the 

selection of the three arts experts 

Page 86



• Nominations will be invited from Arts and Third level Educational Institutions as listed 
below, but not limited to the list below: 
o Aosdána 
o Contemporary Music Company 
o Create 
o Dance Ireland 
o Film Base 
o First Music Contact 
o Irish Film Institute 
o Irish Architectural Foundation 
o Poetry Ireland 
o Theatre Forum 
o Visual Artists Ireland 
o DIT 
o GradCam 
o IADT 
o NCAD 
o TCD 
o UCD 
 

• The selection of the three external Arts experts will be made by the Dublin City 
Council members of the Art and Culture Advisory Group, including Councillors and 
City Council Officials. 

 
8. Partnerships 

Opportunities for partnership exist with key city and national organisations including; 
National Transport Authority, National Roads Authority, Railway Procurement Agency, CIE, 
Dublin Bus, Dublin Port Company, Office of Public Works, Dublin Docklands Development 
Authority, etc. Arts organisations including artists’ representative organisations are 
considered as potential partners. Universities and Third Level Institutions with a commitment 
or relevance to public art (theory and practice) will be considered as potential partners in 
terms of research and development.  This could include colleges engaged in practice and 
research in the areas of the arts (all artforms) architecture, planning, sociology, etc. 
 

9. Public art Programme 
The Dublin City Public Art Programme will include commissioning artists under the Per Cent 
for Art Scheme as well as other public art projects.  It will also include implementation of 
policies regarding applications for commemorations, monuments and donations.  The 
programme will include research and development, public engagement, and documentation 
and evaluation.  Two strands will govern the overall public art programme.  These are to 
respond to Dublin as: 

• The capital of Ireland and international city 

• A city of communities and neighbourhoods 
 

10. Per Cent for Art  
The Per Cent for Art Scheme will be used to commission artists to make work in all artforms, 
which includes temporary and time based work as well as exploring the potential of process 
based commissions, residencies and research projects.  Permanent work will only be 
commissioned if of the highest artistic quality that enhances the city’s art collection.   
 
Funding awarded under the Per Cent for Art Scheme ranges from very small amounts (e.g. 
€1,500) to the maximum of €64,000.  To commission artworks relating to each individual 
capital development would not be feasible and would not give scope for the development of 
a coherent Public Art Programme.  Therefore, the pooling of funds has been established as 

Page 87



a way of managing the finance and commissioning procedures for public art so that more 
significant public art programmes and commissions can be undertaken.  Funding (in line with 
other precedents e.g. Breaking Ground, Ballymun Regeneration, In Context 3, South Dublin 
County Council, Place and Identity, Dún Laoghaire Rathdown County Council) will also be 
used for wider programming such as mediation, public engagement, etc.   
 

11. Public Art Projects  
The Dublin City Public Art Programme will also give scope for supporting initiatives of the 
Arts Office relating to public art as well as independent / artist initiated public art projects. 
 

12. Commemorations and Memorials 
The Art and Culture Advisory Group recognises the sensitivities regarding communities who 
wish to permanently mark individuals’ contributions to society, the city or an area.  However, 
there is need to respect and understand the nature of Dublin as a city.  The impact of placing 
permanent statues and memorials on the city’s streetscape and in parks has to be 
considered, as do questions such as ‘who and what should be commemorated’?   The need 
to remember and note the contribution or circumstances regarding a person or group of 
people can be addressed in many ways and permanent art is not necessarily the best way to 
do this.  Therefore, no sculptural commemoration or monument should be accepted or 
commissioned until twenty years after the death of the individual/s or event.  The 
Public Art Manager will advise on other temporary forms of commemoration such as 
bursaries, which are considered more appropriate to the memory of deceased people, 
providing inspiration and active encouragement to those still living.   
 
It is anticipated that requests for commemorative naming and the erection of plaques, 
monuments and memorials, etc will increase significantly over the course of the ‘’Decade of 
Commemorations’ (2012 – 2022).  In this context Dublin City Council has established a 
special Committee of Councillors (The Commemorative Naming Committee) which will make 
recommendations on these issues. The Arts and Culture Advisory Group also has an 
important role in the consideration of the ‘the artistic merit of the proposals’2 for permanent 
monuments (including statues) and in making recommendations for approval or not.   
 

13. Donations 
Donations of artworks or proposals to commission and site work on City Council space will 
only be considered occasionally.  Proposals for donations will be assessed on their artistic 
merit, site suitability, appropriateness to the city context, and on implications regarding cost 
and maintenance.   The Art and Culture Advisory Group may designate a selection panel to 
assess proposals.  Potential donors will be advised that the City Council must have a 
curatorial role in the selection of artists.   
 
A formal agreement / contract will be drawn up setting out the conditions for the acceptance 
of donations including the responsibilities of each party (the City, sponsor, artist, outside 
contractors, etc).  The agreement will address project funding, project supervision, 
fabrication, transport, installation, transfer of title, maintenance, mediation, education, 
intellectual rights/ copyright, decommissioning and other issues as necessary.   
 

14. Research and Development 
Research is considered to play a vital role in developing public art policy and programmes 
which are of national and international relevance.  .   

                                                 
2 Policy for Commemorative Naming of Infrastructure and the provision of monuments, Memorials and Plaques: 

Dublin City Council, 2014. 
 

Page 88



 
15. Public Engagement 

Public engagement is a key element of any public art programme.  This will include 
advocacy within the City Council as well as promotion to the wider public.  It will include 
promoting awareness of the programme as well as individual commissions, artworks and 
artists.  Elements of public engagement will include: 

• Public relations through the press, radio, television and internet 

• Mediation - engaging with artists and the public  

• Presentations and seminars 

• Public consultation  

• Distribution of documentation 
 
16. Website 

The Dublin City Public Art Programme will use dublincity.ie and dublin.ie to feature current 
and past public art policies, programmes and commissions.  
 

17. Documentation and Evaluation 
The documentation of public art is important for care of the collection, in house knowledge, 
education and public awareness.  This includes permanent as well as temporary artworks.  
Documentation can include photography, DVD, recordings, publications, etc.  Evaluation of 
the public art programme and its policies will take place during each Five Year Programme.   

 
18. Procedure  

Procedure for the management of the public art programme will reflect the National 
Guidelines for the Per Cent for Art Scheme.  This will include the development of briefs, 
selection of artists, contracts and management of commissions.  The Public Art 
Manager/City Arts Officer will oversee the work of the Selection Panels and implement 
appropriate terms of reference and guidelines.  The method of selection will depend on the 
scale and nature of the public art commission and will be made in line with European and 
National Public Procurement principles and regulations. 
 

19. Selection Panels 
Selection panels will be appointed to undertake the short-listing and selection of artists for 
commissions.  Selection panels will consist of no less than three people and no more than 
nine.  Panels will have a majority of art experts including independent practitioners and 
curators.  If issues regarding critical interpretation, site choice, structural requirements or 
other matters arise, the panel may at its discretion, meet with the artists before making a 
final decision.  Panels will typically be composed from the following (depending on the nature 
of the commission): 

• Arts Officer and or Area Arts Officer/s  

• Public Art Manager 

• Member of the Arts and Cultural Advisory Group  

• Artists 

• Independent curators and other public art professionals 

• Technical expert, architect, engineer, planner, etc 

• Representative of the community, neighbourhood or area 
 
All selected panels will be approved ultimately by Order of the Assistant Chief Executive of 
Dublin City Council. 
 

20. Submissions for Permanent Work  
Applicants proposing to donate or commission a permanent artwork (whether proposed 
internally or externally through sponsors) to be located on or in property owned or cared for 
by Dublin City Council, will be required to present a formal submission for consideration by 

Page 89



the Art and Culture Advisory Group or a selection panel established by the Arts and Cultural 
Advisory Group for this purpose.  Applicants will be informed of the criteria, conditions and 
procedures governing commissions, donations, loans or long-term gifts or permanent 
artworks.    
 
Completed and installed works will be registered on the Public Art Register. 
 
Submissions must include: 

• A statement of intentions as to why the work is being proposed / offered. 

• Details of artist, including C.V. and images of past work 

• Visualisations of proposed work, drawings, maquette, digital images,  

• Technical information, including materials, fabrication, maintenance, etc 

• Proposed siting, including plans, diagrams, visualisations of proposed work in 
relation to the proposed site 

• Detailed budget including artist’s fees, fabrication, transport, installation and 
maintenance 

• Details of funding and source of funds   
 

21. Planning Permission 
Applicants should note that most permanent/ long-term works are subject to granting of Part 
8 permission for City Council commissions, and planning permission for external proposals.   
 

22. Appeals  
Appeals will only be considered where a claim is made that the panel’s consideration of a 
proposal was procedurally unfair, unreasonable or inadequate.  The City Council will then re-
check procedural matters.  No appeals will be entertained on the grounds of the panel’s 
aesthetic evaluation of an existing or proposed work.  
 

23. Care and Conservation 
Dublin City Council already has an extensive collection of permanent artworks in public 
space.  The City Council has an obligation to itself, artists and the public to maintain works in 
its care.  Therefore, it will be important to establish the extent and nature of the collection 
and make adequate provision for its maintenance.  The Dublin City Public Art Programme 
will include consultation and co-operation with Dublin City Council officials including the City 
Heritage Officer.    
 

24. Maintenance and Decommissioning 
A programme of maintenance will be established based on the information gathered through 
the development of a Public Art Register.  A policy of maintenance and decommissioning will 
be applicable to all new permanent works commissioned or received by the City Council.  
Procedures for re-siting and if necessary the decommissioning of permanent artworks will be 
developed.    
 
In order to support the maintenance and decommissioning programme, it is intended that a 
deduction will be made from budgets for all new commissions. This follows the example of 
the OPW which has put a similar policy in place.   
 

25. Public Art Register 
A Public Art Register will be developed. This will include permanent work in the ownership or 
care of the City Council and will also include temporary art projects undertaken under the 
Public Art Programme.  The Public Art Register will include if applicable: 

• Title of work 

• Name of artist/s 

• Artist’s statement / short description / intention of work / 

Page 90



• Technical issues: date, medium, dimensions,  

• Location 

• Budget 

• Image/s 

• Maintenance notes 
 
_______________________                                                          
_______________________  
Brendan Kenny                                                                              Ray Yeates 
Assistant Chief Executive                                                            City Arts Officer 
 
 
 
 
_______________________                                                          
________________________ 
Ruairí Ó Cuív                                                                                 Mary Freehill 
Public Art Manager                                                                       Chairperson SPC 
 
 
 
                                                     Date : _________________________ 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 91





 

Dublin City Council – Commemorative Naming Policy – revised March 2017, p.1 
 

 
 
 

POLICY FOR 

COMMEMORATIVE NAMING OF INFRASTRUCTURE AND THE PROVISION OF 

MONUMENTS, MEMORIALS AND PLAQUES 

 
1. Context 
 
1.1 Dublin City Council recognises that public commemoration and memorials offer 
opportunities to honour, celebrate, or remember a person, group of persons or events of 
significance. They provide an opportunity for the City to highlight important social, cultural 
and economic contributions to society, to celebrate the uniqueness of the City and to create 
a ‘sense of place’ which is identified as being of great importance to citizens and visitors. 
 
1.2 This policy sets out the process by which Dublin City Council will consider the 
commemoration of events or individuals who have shaped the city, either by the naming of 
infrastructure or by the installation of monuments, memorials and plaques in the public 
realm. 
 
1.3 It is important for the City Council to establish a policy on this matter because of: 

 The need to have clarity regarding the policy and procedures for the consideration of 

proposals from individuals and interest groups; 

 The high level of demand for the naming of infrastructure and the erection of 

memorials and plaques; 

 The emotive nature of requests where people are recently deceased; 

 The need to ensure that a proliferation of memorials and plaques does not detract 

from the wider amenity and enjoyment of public spaces. 

 
2. Commemorative Naming Committee 
2.1 A Commemorative Naming Committee was established by Dublin City Council to make 
recommendations regarding the naming of key infrastructure and the selection of individuals 
or events which will be commemorated through the erection of civic monuments or plaques. 
 
2.2 Proposals for the naming of infrastructure and dedication of memorials and plaques must 
be formally submitted through an agreed process.  
 
2.3 The Commemorative Naming Committee will consider all applications deemed to be 
valid under the terms of this policy.  The Committee may, at its discretion, request additional 
information on any proposal. 
 
3. The Public Realm 
3.1 The Dublin City Council Public Realm Strategy ‘Your City Your Space’ adopted in 2012 
recognises the importance of the public realm in projecting the image of the city ‘because it 
impacts on how we understand ourselves and how we want to present ourselves to others.’1   
 

                                                 
1 Dublin City Council, Public Realm Strategy, Your City Your Space 

http://www.dublincity.ie/Planning/Documents/Draft_PRS_291111_web.pdf   

Page 93

http://www.dublincity.ie/Planning/Documents/Draft_PRS_291111_web.pdf


 

Dublin City Council – Commemorative Naming Policy – revised March 2017, p.2 
 

3.2 The Policy for naming of infrastructure and erection of plaques notes the following: 
 

The Public Realm Strategy recognises a hierarchy of public spaces within the city 

and the issue of clutter in city centre. Therefore, the city centre, defined as the area 

between the two canals will be considered to only merit proposals of the highest 

profile individuals or events of national and international significance. 

 
4. Placenames, Streets and Public Spaces 
4.1 Dublin City Council has established procedures for place-names and the naming of 
public spaces, streets or re-naming of streets. 
 
4.2 This process is undertaken through the five area offices in the City Council with 
recommendations made by the Local Area Committees, and process will remain the same. 
 
5. Public Art 
5.1 Dublin City Council values the contribution which permanent art can bring to enhancing 
the public realm. 
 
5.2 Proposals for statues and other permanent visual artworks are considered by the Arts 
and Cultural Advisory Group.2  
 
6. Committee Composition 
6.1 The Commemorative Naming Committee is comprised of eight City Councillors. 
 
6.2 The Committee will be assisted by the following officials: 

 Executive Manager, Culture Recreation and Economic Services; 

 Relevant Executive Manager of the host Department or Area Manager; 

 Dublin City Librarian; 

 Dublin City Arts Officer; 

 Dublin City Heritage Officer; 

 Dublin City Public Art Manager; 

 Other Council officials as necessary. 

 
7. Terms of Office 
7.1 The Councillor members will be nominated and approved by the City Council and shall 
reflect the proportionality and distribution of elected representation on the City Council.   
 
7.2 The terms of office of members will be consistent with the term of the Council.  Any 
casual vacancy arising will be filled by nomination and approval by the City Council. 
 
8. Chair 
8.1 The Chair will be elected by the Councillor Members on the Committee from among the 
Councillor Members on the Committee in advance of the inaugural meeting.  
 
8.2 The chairperson will serve for a term of one year. Outgoing chairpersons will be eligible 
for re-election each year. 
 
9. Quorum 
Three members will constitute a quorum. 
 

                                                 
2
 See Policies and Strategies for Managing Public Art adopted by Dublin City Council in 2009.  www.dublincitypublicart.ie 

Page 94

http://www.dublincitypublicart.ie/


 

Dublin City Council – Commemorative Naming Policy – revised March 2017, p.3 
 

10. Added Expertise 
10.1 The Committee may call on the advice of internal and/or external parties (who are not 
members of the Committee) in the evaluation of proposals.   
 
10.2 These experts may be requested to comment on proposals relevant to their expertise 
and/or be invited to attend and contribute to meeting/s of the Committee.  Such experts do 
not have voting rights. 
 
11. Public Consultation 
The Commemorative Naming Committee will seek comment on proposals for the naming of 
major infrastructure / monuments / statues via the Area Offices / Area Committees, and will 
engage public comment. 
 
12. Voting 
12.1 In the event of a vote on a proposal only those members present at the meeting may 
cast a vote. 
 
12.2 The Chair will have a casting vote. 
 
13. Final decision 
Recommendations of the Commemorative Naming Committee will be brought before the full 
Council for final decision on major infrastructure and monuments/statues. 
 
14. Commemorative Naming Principles 
14.1 A Monument is a lasting tribute to a person, group or event. Therefore the Council 
needs to be confident that the subject of such a memorial is of sufficient importance that the 
decision to approve a monument will stand the test of time.  
 
14.2 Where multiple proposals are made for the naming of major infrastructure, civic space 
or the erection of a monument in the public realm, the Commemorative Naming Committee 
may establish further criteria which will be publicly announced.  
 
14.3 In such cases, the Committee will endeavour to select a name which best reflects the 
context, locality and importance of the infrastructure and history of the city. 

 
14.4 Dublin City Council encourages different ways of commemoration. This can be 
achieved through  
 

 History, archive and research projects which take place within a locality or community 

or on a city wide basis. 

 Community development projects (arts, sport, education, etc) dedicated to the 

memory of individuals, groups or events. 

 The development of digital media which can enable new ways of thinking about and 

commemorating the past. 

 
14.5 A register will be established which records the naming of infrastructure and the 
erection of monuments and plaques. 
 
15. Criteria 
The following are criteria for all proposals on the naming of City Council infrastructure or the 
erection of a monument or plaque in honour of a person, group, organisation or event: 
 
15.1 The person/s must have been born in or lived in Dublin or have had strong and/or 
enduring connections with the city.  

Page 95



 

Dublin City Council – Commemorative Naming Policy – revised March 2017, p.4 
 

 
15.2 The person/s must have made a unique and outstanding contribution to the life or 
history of Dublin through outstanding achievement, distinctive service or significant 
community contribution. 
 
15.3 In the case of an event to be commemorated, this must have occurred in Dublin. 
 
15.4 An event will have to have occurred at least 20 years previously unless it is of 
extraordinary and long-lasting consequence to the city. 
 
15.5 In considering proposals for naming of infrastructure or erection of civic monuments or 
plaques, consideration will be given to what other infrastructure; monuments or plaques exist 
in honour of the person/s or event. 
 
15.6 Proposals to commemorate living persons will not be considered.  Nominees will have 
to have died at least 20 years previously or have passed the centenary of their birth 
whichever is earlier. 
 
15.7 All proposals to erect monuments, memorials or plaques will have to comply with 
planning regulations.  The erection of a plaque on a protected structure requires written 
permission from Dublin City Council’s Conservation/Planning Property Development 
Department. 
 
15.8 Any proposal to erect a plaque on a building that is not protected but that is located 
within an Architectural Conservation Area will be referred for consultation to the 
Conservation Office (Planning Department) for clarification. 
 
15.9 Permission of the owners and where relevant lease holders/building managers of 
private property or buildings will have to have been sought and demonstrated to have been 
granted in writing at the time of application.  
 
15.10 Evidence of consent must be supplied from members of family, estate or group 
connected with the individual or event to be commemorated. 
 
15.11 Consideration will be given to the issue of gender balance. 
 
16. Infrastructure 
Infrastructure includes buildings, bridges, roundabouts and other structures. 
 
16.1 Consideration will only be given to the naming of major infrastructure such as 
roundabouts, buildings (non-residential), facilities and bridges.  Minor infrastructure will not 
be considered for naming. 
 
16.2 City parks, Fire Brigade stations, public libraries, civic offices and utility facilities will not 
be named after individuals or events.  Names of parks, Fire Brigade stations and other 
infrastructure will reflect the locality or townland. 
 
16.3 A majority of the Committee members present must agree on a recommendation for the 
naming of major infrastructure such as a bridge or major civic building.  
 
17. Monuments 
A Monument is deemed to be a three-dimensional structure or a high and low relief, of 
architectural or sculptural design, erected to commemorate a person or event. 
 

Page 96



 

Dublin City Council – Commemorative Naming Policy – revised March 2017, p.5 
 

17.1 All proposals for monuments recommended by the Commemorative Naming Committee 
will be referred to the Arts and Cultural Advisory Group for consideration and 
recommendation on their artistic merit and technical feasibility. 
 
17.2 A proposal for a monument will be referred to the Arts and Cultural Advisory Group if it 
is considered to be purely public art and therefore more appropriate to that Committee. 
 
17.3 Proposals may be subject to planning legislation. 
 
17.4 An individual should be commemorated with only one monument. 
 
18. Plaques 
A Plaque is an inscribed tablet fixed to a wall or other surface. Plaques are typically installed 
to commemorate the place of residence or work of a notable individual or the occurrence of 
a significant event. The Department of the Arts, Heritage and the Gaeltacht, Architectural 
Heritage Protection Guidelines recognises the value which a plaque can have in marking the 
historical context of a building including existing fixtures and features. 
 
18.1 Dublin City Council has adopted a commemorative plaque scheme.   
 
18.2 This plaque scheme is intended to facilitate the commemoration of people, 
organisations and events that have made a unique and significant contribution to the life or 
history of Dublin through outstanding achievement, distinctive service or significant 
community contribution.  
 
18.3 The plaque has been carefully designed to be legible from a distance, hence the 
number of characters that can be accommodated on the plaque is restricted. 
 
18.4 The Commemorative Naming Committee will only grant permission to proposals for 
plaques that comply with the DCC plaque scheme.3  
   
18.5 Plaques can only be affixed to the original building or to where the frontage consists of 
a facsimile frontage on the original site. 

 
18.6 The facade of the proposed building for the plaque must be in appropriate condition 
and decorative order and be suitable for the display of the plaque at a height which is 
readable. 
  
18.7 Dublin City Council Commemorative Plaques which are made from granite with a steel 
base are not suitable to be placed in the ground. 
 
18.8 An individual should be commemorated with only one plaque or memorial. 
 
18.9 The erection or replacement of business and organisation plaques or nameplates is not 
covered under this policy. 
 
19. Community Memorials 
A Community Memorial is a discreet memorial (for example a tree or bench in a park, street 
or public space) dedicated to a person or group or to commemorate an event. 
 

                                                 
3 http://www.dublincity.ie/main-menu-services-recreation-culture/commemorative-naming 

Page 97

http://www.dublincity.ie/main-menu-services-recreation-culture/commemorative-naming


 

Dublin City Council – Commemorative Naming Policy – revised March 2017, p.6 
 

19.1 Proposals for community memorials such as a bench or tree planting to be installed in a 
city park, or public space will be directed to Dublin City Council Parks and Landscape 
Services Division for recommendation.  It is also a matter for the Area Committee. 
 
19.2 In exceptional circumstances and subject to the discretion of the City Parks 
Superintendent other forms of memorials will be considered (subject to the availability of 
suitable locations). 
 
See link to Guidelines on Memorials in Parks  Click here 
 
20. General Procedures 
20.1 Proposals must be made in writing on an official application form available from Dublin 
City Council by post, email or download at www.dublincity.ie/  
 
20.2 A marked map and photographs of the proposed location must be submitted with the 
completed application form. 
 
20.3 The text of the proposed wording for a monument or plaque must be provided along 
with visualisations (design, drawings) of the proposal. Dublin City Council will have the final 
say on the text for a plaque. 
 
20.4 The Commemorative Naming Committee will only consider complete and valid 
proposals. 
 
20.5 Support material such as publications, texts, photographs, videos etc will be accepted. 
All reasonable care will be taken with such support material.  Dublin City Council and its 
promoters or managers do not accept responsibility for any loss or damage which may 
occur. Applicants will be required to collect support material within one month of being 
informed of the decisions of Dublin City Council. 
 
20.6 The design and text of any wording associated with the naming of infrastructure or the 
erection of a monument must be agreed with Dublin City Council. 
 
20.7 Wording on monuments and plaques will be in English and Irish. 
 
20.8 The costs involved in naming infrastructure or the erection of a monument or plaque will 
be borne by the proposers. Proposers will have to demonstrate that the required funding is 
available for the proposal.  
 
20.9 It is a matter for the original promoter of a plaque to maintain the “goodwill” agreement 
with the building owners and to maintain the appearance of the plaque in perpetuity. 
Furthermore Dublin City Council will not be responsible for future maintenance and upkeep 
of plaques promoted by a private individual or group. 
 
20.10 It is acknowledged that plaques can add to the special interest of a building and it is 
recommended that they are retained in situ and not removed. 
 
20.11 Dublin City Council may initiate the naming of infrastructure or the erection of a 
monument or plaque through the Commemorative Naming Committee, and in such 
circumstances may fund or part-fund the initiative. 
 
20.12 All works carried out as part of a proposal to the Commemorative Naming Committee 
must comply with all relevant legislation including Dublin City Council bye-laws. 
 

Page 98

file://dccdata/cande/shared/eandc/Secretar/SPC/2014-2019%20Arts%20Culture%20Leisure%20and%20Community%20SPC/CNC%202014-2015/Parks%20Memorials%20Document.doc/Memorials%20in%20Parks%20document.doc
http://www.dublincity.ie/


 

Dublin City Council – Commemorative Naming Policy – revised March 2017, p.7 
 

20.13 The decision to permit the erection of a plaque is subject to a written contract or 
agreement with Dublin City Council. 
 
20.14 This policy will be reviewed every five years by the Commemorative Naming 
Committee.  This committee may make proposals in such a review. 
 
21. Appeals 
Appeals will be considered only where a claim is made on the official form, that the 
Commemorative Naming Committee’s consideration of a proposal was procedurally unfair, 
unreasonable or inadequate. 
 
22. Adoption 
22.1 This Policy Document was approved by Dublin City Council at its meeting held on [date 
to be added]. 
. 
 
 
 

Dublin City Council 
Culture, Recreation and Economic Services 

Block 4, Ground Floor,  
Civic Offices 

Dublin 8 
cra@dublincity.ie 

01-2222172 
 
 
 

Page 99




	Agenda
	1 Minutes of meeting 27th June 2019
	3 Draft Brief for Protocol Working Group on IT.
	4 Lord Mayor's Receptions and Engagements of the Deputy Lord Mayor
	Deputies Receptions - July

	5c) Conference Reports Received
	Cllr Callaghan
	Cllr Conroy
	Cllr Conroy 2
	Cllr Freehill
	Cllr Costello
	Cllr Lacey

	6 Motion in the name of Cllr Patrick Costello
	7 Expenses for Elected Members
	LG 04-2019 Revised subsistence rates for elected members

	8 Loan of the Chain of the Court of Conscience
	9 Donation of a bust of Mahatma Ghandi
	Policy and procedures for the management and development of Public Art in Dublin City
	Policy Document revised May 2017


